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The Directors of Cronos Australia Limited submit their Report for the year ended 30 June 2019.

Directors
The details of the Directors of Cronos Australia Limited (“CAL” and the “Company”) who held office during  
the period from the date of incorporation, being 27 September 2018, until the date of this Report are stated 
below, as are the dates on which they were appointed. Refer Note 2(a) of the accompanying financial 
statements for details regarding a restructure of the entities within the Cronos Australia group that occurred  
on 27 September 2018.

Directors in office as at the date of this Report

Shane F. Tanner 

Position:  Independent Non-Executive Chairman

Qualifications:  Dip Bus (RMIT), Grad Dip Bus (Swinburne), FCPA, ACIS

Other responsibilities: Member of Audit and Risk Committee 
 Member of Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Other Directorships:  Paragon Care Limited (ASX: PGC) (Chairman) 
Rhythm Biosciences Limited (ASX: RHY) 
Victory Offices Limited (ASX: VOL)

Shane Tanner was appointed Independent Non-Executive Chairman of CAL on 
9 October 2018. Formerly, Shane was Chairman of Vision Eye Institute (ASX: VEI),  
Chief Executive Officer of Mayne Nickless Diagnostic Services (later renamed Symbion 
Health (ASX: SYB)) and Chief Financial Officer of Mayne Group. Shane has significant 
strategy and transaction experience, including whilst working at Mayne Group via the 
IPO of the telecommunications company, Optus Communications.

Rodney D. Cocks CSM

Position:  Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Qualifications:  BCom (Melb.), LLB (QUT), MBA (Wharton), MPA (Harvard)

Other responsibilities: None

Other Directorships: None

Rodney Cocks was appointed Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of CAL 
on 27 September 2018. He is a Director of NewSouthern Capital Pty. Ltd., a private equity 
firm he co-founded, which undertakes business in the real estate, energy and digital 
sectors. Prior to joining CAL, he was a member of the Senior Leadership Team at Linfox 
and was a Consultant at the Boston Consulting Group. Rodney served on the Counter 
Narcotics Team of the British Embassy in Kabul, Afghanistan and with the United Nations 
in Afghanistan, Sri Lanka, Pakistan and Iraq and started his career as an Infantry Officer 
in the Australian Army. Rodney is a Graduate of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors and the Royal Military College, Duntroon. Rodney is an admitted Lawyer to  
the Supreme Court of New South Wales and was a Fellow at Harvard University and the 
2005 Victorian Australian of the Year. In 2003, he was awarded a Conspicuous Service 
Medal for his actions in the aftermath of the 2002 Bali bombings.

Directors’ Report
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Peter J. Righetti

Position: Chief Operating Officer and Executive Director

Qualifications:  BCom (Deakin), LLB (University of New England), GDLP, GAICD

Other responsibilities: None

Other Directorships: None

Peter Righetti was appointed Executive Director and the Chief Operating Officer of CAL 
on 27 September 2018. He is a Director of NewSouthern Capital Pty. Ltd., a private equity 
firm he co-founded. Prior to co-founding NewSouthern, Peter held senior commercial and 
leadership positions with private development and construction organisations. He was a 
member of the executive team at ASX-listed, Engenco Limited (ASX: EGN) and held senior 
development and project roles at construction companies including Metricon Group. 
Peter has been a Commissioned Officer in the Australian Army. He is admitted as a 
lawyer to the Supreme Court of Victoria, a Graduate of the Royal Military College, 
Duntroon and a Graduate of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Daniel E. Abrahams

Position: Independent Non-Executive Director

Qualifications:   BBus (Accounting and Finance) (Central Queensland Uni.), 
FCPA, FCIS

Other responsibilities:  Chairman of Audit and Risk Committee 
Member of Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Other Directorships: None

Daniel Abrahams was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of CAL  
on 17 October 2018. Daniel is an independent consultant providing practical expertise 
on entrepreneurship and leadership programs to universities, helping students and 
alumni take ideas to commercialisation, and acting as an independent adviser to 
companies on scaling up. Prior to this, Daniel was an Executive Director and Chief 
Executive Officer of Superloop Limited (ASX: SLC), taking the company to IPO and 
overseeing its infrastructure rollout in Australia, Singapore and Hong Kong. Daniel  
has also held senior executive positions at Aurizon Holdings Limited (ASX: AZJ), 
Suncorp Group Limited (ASX: SUN), Energex and Toyota Tsusho South Pacific.

Jason M. Adler

Position: Non-Executive Director

Qualifications: BA (University of Rhode Island)

Other responsibilities: None

Other Directorships: Cronos Group Inc. (NASDAQ: CRON; TSX: CRON)

Jason Adler was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of CAL on 8 April 2019.  
He is a Director of Cronos Group Inc., a major shareholder of CAL, and is the Founder 
and Managing Partner of Gotham Green Partners GP, and the General Partner of 
Gotham Green Fund 1, LP, a private equity firm focused primarily on early stage 
investing in companies operating in the cannabis industry. Prior to founding Gotham 
Green, Jason was the co-founder and Chief Executive Officer of Alphabet Management, 
LLC, a New York based volatility fund that focused on identifying mispriced assets across 
various industries, asset classes and geographies. Jason also founded Geronimo, LLC, 
an AMEX member broker dealer that made markets in equity options, and began his 
career as a market maker at G&D Trading, an AMEX member market maker.
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Anna E. Burke AO 

Position: Independent Non-Executive Director

Qualifications:  BA (Hons), MCom (Hons) (University of Melbourne)

Other responsibilities:  Chairman of Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
Member of Audit and Risk Committee

Other Directorships: None

Anna Burke AO was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of CAL on 
8 October 2018. Anna served in the Australian Federal Parliament as the Member for 
Chisholm in the House of Representatives from 1998 to 2016, and was also the 28th 
Speaker of the Australian House of Representatives. She currently serves as a Member 
of the Administrative Appeals Tribunal. Anna had extensive Committee service in the 
Federal Parliament, including serving as a member of the Joint Statutory Committee  
on Corporations and Financial Services and the House of Representatives Standing 
Committee on Economic, Finance and Public Administration. Prior to Anna’s parliamentary 
career, she was an Industrial Officer with VicRoads, Victorian University of Technology 
and the Financial Sector Union. Anna was appointed as an Officer of the Order of 
Australia in January 2019 for distinguished service to the Parliament of Australia, 
particularly as Speaker of the House of Representatives, and to the community.

Michael R. Gorenstein

Position: Non-Executive Director

Qualifications:   JD (University of Pennsylvania), BEPP (Wharton),  
BBS (Finance) (Kelley)

Other responsibilities: None

Other Directorships: Cronos Group Inc. (NASDAQ: CRON; TSX: CRON)

Mike Gorenstein was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of CAL on 1 April 2019.  
He is Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of Cronos Group Inc., a major 
shareholder of CAL. Mike is also a member of Gotham Green Partners GP. Before 
joining CAL, Mike was a partner at Alphabet Ventures LLC, a multi-strategy investment 
management firm located in New York City. Prior to Alphabet Ventures, he was the  
VP and General Counsel of Saiers Capital LLC and a corporate attorney at Sullivan  
& Cromwell LLP where he focused on mergers and acquisitions and capital  
markets transactions.

Company Secretary

Lior Harel

Position: General Counsel and Company Secretary

Qualifications:  BA, LLB (University of Melbourne)

Lior Harel was appointed as the General Counsel and Company Secretary of CAL  
on 22 October 2018. Prior to joining the Company, he was the Chief Legal Counsel  
of SEEK.com.au (ASX: SEK) with coverage of SEEK’s Australian and Asian businesses. 
Prior to SEEK, Lior was the Chief Operating Officer and General Counsel of ecommerce 
and travel business, The Lux Group (including cudo.com.au, luxuryescapes.com,  
deals.com.au). He commenced his career with leading Australian commercial law  
firm, Arnold Bloch Leibler, rising to Senior Associate in the Corporate/Commercial  
and Banking and Finance teams.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Interests in the securities of the Company and related bodies corporate
As at the date of this Report, the following Directors held beneficial interests in the ordinary shares  
of the Company:

Name of Director Nature of beneficial interest in ordinary shares

Rodney D. Cocks CSM 1,000,000 ordinary shares (via NewSouthern Investment Holdings 1 Pty. Ltd.)

Peter J. Righetti 1,000,000 ordinary shares (via NewSouthern Investment Holdings A Pty. Ltd.)

Apart from the above, no Director held any beneficial interest in the Company’s shares as at the date  
of this Report.

Operating and Financial Review
Corporate structure
Cronos Australia Limited (“CAL” or the “Company”) is a public company limited by shares that is incorporated 
and domiciled in Australia. The Company has prepared a consolidated financial report incorporating the 
entities that it controlled during the year ended 30 June 2019 which are collectively referred to in this Report 
as the “Cronos Australia Group” or the “Group”. The structure of the Group at the date of this Report can  
be represented as follows:

Cronos Australia
Limited

(ACN 629 071 594)

Cronos Australia
Group Pty. Ltd.

(ACN 603 433 110)

Cronos Australia – 
New Zealand Limited

(NZ co. number
7073673)

100%

100% 100% 100% 100%

CBD Australia – 
Asia Limited

(HK co. number
2856479)

Cronos Australia – 
Operations  Pty. Ltd.
(ACN 616 243 595)

Cronos Australia – 
Marketing & Distribution 

Pty. Ltd.
(ACN 621 292 064)

Overview
Cronos Australia Limited was incorporated in Victoria, Australia on 27 September 2018. CAL is a medicinal 
cannabis company that plans to enter the medicinal cannabis market in Australia with a range of products, 
having secured all the necessary Australian licences to operate – including import and export licences.  
In addition to distributing the in-market brand PEACE NATURALS™, which is currently sold in Canada and 
Germany, the Company proposes to outsource the manufacturing and distribution of its own medicinal 
cannabis product brands for sale in Australia and target export markets (subject to legislative reform in 
those markets and CAL obtaining any required approvals and licences).

The business now owned by CAL was established in 2016 as a 50/50 joint venture between Canadian-based 
global cannabis leader, Cronos Group Inc. (NASDAQ: CRON; TSX: CRON) (“Cronos Group”) and NewSouthern 
Capital Pty. Ltd., a Melbourne-based private equity firm controlled by the two Executive Directors of Cronos 
Australia Limited.
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Principal activities
The principal activity of the five entities within the Group during the year ended 30 June 2019 was the 
development and expansion of a business to enter the medicinal cannabis market in Australia and target 
export markets. Medicinal cannabis is a term that covers a broad range of products derived from the 
cannabis plant and/or the chemical compounds it produces, such as cannabinoids, that are used for  
the purposes of treating or alleviating the symptoms of a disease, ailment or injury.

On 27 September 2018, a restructure of the entities within what is now the Cronos Australia Group occurred, 
including the incorporation of Cronos Australia Limited on that date. This restructure is described in detail  
in Note 2(a) of the accompanying financial statements.

Apart from the above, there were no significant changes in the Group’s activities during the year under review. 

Result
During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Company and its subsidiaries generated a consolidated loss after 
income tax of $(2,914,301) (2018: profit after income tax $150,349). Details relating to the Company’s financial 
results for the year are included below under the heading Financial Analysis.

Dividends and distributions
No dividends have been paid since the Company was incorporated, nor have the Directors recommended 
that any dividend be paid.

Review of operations
During the year ended 30 June 2019 and subsequent to balance date, the Group continued to undertake a 
number of activities necessary for the establishment and expansion of its medicinal cannabis business, including:

• Securing, via one of its subsidiaries, the licences and permits necessary to cultivate, produce, manufacture, 
research, import and export medicinal cannabis in Australia, with the objective of entering the medicinal 
cannabis market in Australia and target export markets with a range of cannabis-based products;

• Negotiation and execution of various agreements with Cronos Group Inc. to secure sole, territorial 
licences granted by Cronos Group Inc. including a selection of cultivars from its genetic bank of more than 
140 cannabis cultivars, as well as licences in respect of trademarks, processes and designs. Additionally, 
Cronos Australia can access know-how from Cronos Group Inc. relating to marketing, licensing, design, 
production and manufacturing;

• Negotiation and execution of various agreements with parties including Mile High Labs APAC Limited, 
MediPharm Labs Australia Pty. Ltd. and Cronos Group Inc. for the supply and/or manufacture of a range 
of cannabis-based products under the brands that CAL plans to create and for PEACE NATURALS™;

• Negotiation and execution of various agreements with parties associated with Agriculture Victoria 
Services Pty. Ltd. in respect of certain cannabis-related research and development activities;

• Establishment of a business development function based in Hong Kong to undertake business 
development activities and take advantage of opportunities in various Asian markets as the laws  
in relation to medicinal cannabis products in those markets continue to evolve; and

• Hiring senior executives to expand the Company’s leadership team to prepare it for future growth.

To fund the Company’s business model, as at the date of this Financial Report, CAL is in the final stages of 
preparing a disclosure document (“Prospectus”) in respect of a planned Initial Public Offering (“IPO”). Activities in 
relation to the IPO were undertaken during the year ended 30 June 2019. The offer of shares in CAL will be made 
in the Prospectus and potential investors should consider the Prospectus in deciding whether to acquire shares in 
CAL. Anyone who wishes to acquire shares in CAL will need to complete the application form that will be included 
in or will accompany the Prospectus, which can be obtained (once issued) by contacting the Company.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

The funds raised by the Company from the IPO will be used to fund the following activities:

• Product and business development

• Patient acquisition and practitioner engagement

• Brand creation, development and launch

• Contract manufacturing establishment and management

• Research and development activities

• Purchase of inventory

• Working capital and administrative costs

• Costs associated with the Offer

Significant changes in the state of affairs
• On 27 September 2018, CAL was incorporated and a restructure of the Group occurred (refer Note 2(a)).

• During the year ended 30 June 2019, the following Directors of the Company were appointed:

– Rodney Cocks and Peter Righetti (each appointed on 27 September 2018)

– Anna Burke AO (appointed on 8 October 2018)

– Shane Tanner (appointed as Independent Chairman on 9 October 2018)

– Daniel Abrahams (appointed on 17 October 2018)

– Michael Gorenstein (appointed on 1 April 2019)

– Jason Adler (appointed on 8 April 2019)

• On 12 October 2018, the Group incorporated a New Zealand based subsidiary named Cronos Australia 
– New Zealand Limited from which the Group’s operations in New Zealand will be managed.

Apart from these events, there have been no other significant changes which have not been described 
elsewhere in this Financial Report.

Significant events after balance date
• On 25 July 2019, the Group incorporated a Hong Kong based subsidiary named CBD Australia – Asia 

Limited from which the Group’s operations in Asia will be managed.

• On 2 August 2019, the Company repaid a loan, together with accrued interest, totaling $519,512 to 
NewSouthern Capital Pty. Ltd. pursuant to the Loan Agreement described in Note 15.

• Subsequent to balance date, the Company received funds totaling $3,500,000 pursuant to 15 convertible 
loan agreements with various investors which were used to meet the Company’s working capital 
commitments and the costs associated with the Company’s proposed IPO. The loans will convert into 
ordinary shares to be issued under the Prospectus at a rate determined by dividing the value of the loan 
by an amount equal to 80% of the offer price for each share (i.e. a discount of 20%). No interest is payable 
on the loans. If the IPO has not occurred within 12 months of receiving the funds, the loans are repayable.

Apart from these events, there have been no other significant events which have occurred after balance date.

Business strategy, future developments and prospects
The Company aims to create value for its shareholders through the expansion of its medicinal cannabis 
business and its planned entry into the medicinal cannabis market in Australia and target export markets 
with a range of products, having secured all the necessary Australian licences to operate – including import 
and export licences. In addition to distributing the in-market brand PEACE NATURALS™, which is currently 
sold in Canada and Germany, the Company proposes to outsource the manufacturing and distribution of its 
own medicinal cannabis product brands for sale in Australia and target export markets (subject to legislative 
reform in those markets and CAL obtaining any required approvals and licences).
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CAL believes it has the following key attributes that position it well to accelerate its growth strategy:

• Licences have been received from relevant Australian authorities that are needed for the Company  
to import, export, cultivate, manufacture and research cannabis.

• Access to Cronos Group Inc.’s intellectual property, via licences granted by Cronos Group Inc. including  
a selection of cultivars from Cronos Group Inc.’s genetic bank of more than 140 cannabis cultivars, as well 
as licences in respect of trademarks, processes and designs. Additionally, Cronos Australia can access 
know-how from Cronos Group Inc. relating to marketing, licensing, design, production and manufacturing. 

• Reduced execution risk through utilising elements of the Cronos Group Inc. business model, including the 
marketing of cannabis products, use of customer and stakeholder engagement frameworks, and the 
in-person assistance of Cronos Group Inc. personnel.

Business strategy, future developments and prospects (continued)
• Route to early revenue through the proposed importation and sale of medicinal cannabis products 

sourced under supply agreements while a range of medicinal cannabis products and brands are 
developed by CAL for launch.

• “Asset light” model, that leverages an outsourced cultivation and manufacturing model, giving the 
Company the flexibility and agility in a rapidly evolving market to focus on products, brands, distribution 
and intellectual property.

• A focus on the development of a range of brands and products, particularly CBD-based products,  
in partnership with appropriate creative and design agencies, which is aligned with demand for such 
products in global markets. 

• Supply, manufacture and research agreements in place with:

– Mile High Labs APAC Limited for the supply and/or manufacture of CBD-based products under the 
brands that CAL plans to create.

– MediPharm Labs Australia Pty. Ltd. for the manufacture and supply of medicinal cannabis products 
under the brands that CAL plans to create.

– Peace Naturals Project (a subsidiary of Cronos Group Inc.) for the supply of PEACE NATURALS™ products.

– Victorian Government’s AVS for research in relation to genetic material of cannabis. It is intended that 
this will enable the Company to commercialise any such genetics.

• Commercial, execution-focused Board and management team capable of delivering on the Company’s 
phased growth strategy. CAL’s leadership team has experience in the global cannabis industry, as well  
as in high growth enterprises, marketing and regulation.

• Business development function established to undertake business development activities in Asian 
markets as the laws in relation to medicinal cannabis products in those markets continue to evolve.

Legal matters
There were no legal matters affecting the Company as at the date of this Report.

Financial analysis
Statement of Comprehensive Income/(Loss)

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Company generated a consolidated loss after tax of $(2,914,301) 
(2018: profit after tax $150,349). A significant proportion of the expenses incurred during the year under 
review related to the establishment of the Company’s medicinal cannabis business as well as preparing  
for its planned IPO. Personnel expenses increased to $1,713,193 as the Company’s leadership team was 
expanded and its operations increased, while site establishment expenses of $292,203 were incurred in 
preparation for the proposed construction of a cultivation facility that was abandoned in favour of the 
Company’s “asset light” strategy. An income tax benefit of $43,937 related to a claim under the Australian 
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Federal Government’s R&D tax incentive scheme in respect of the year ended 30 June 2018. The profit 
generated and income tax paid during the corresponding prior year related to the Group’s former property 
development activities which were abandoned prior to the Group’s restructure on 27 September 2018  
(refer Note 2(a) of the financial statements).

Statement of Financial Position

As at 30 June 2019, the Group’s consolidated balance of cash and cash equivalents was $159,679  
(2018: $58,702). During the year under review, deferred IPO expenses of $1,331,397 were capitalised in the 
statement of financial position, as was an intangible asset of $200,000 relating to licences that was created 
upon the Group’s Restructure in September 2018 (refer Notes 2(a), 11 and 13 of the financial statements).  
Also during the year, the Group’s trade and other payables increased to $(2,436,354), the majority of which 
related to accrued IPO and personnel expenses, while two unsecured, interest-bearing loans from the 
Company’s shareholders, totaling $2,000,000, were drawn down to fund the costs associated with the 
Company’s planned IPO and listing on the ASX and the payment of general working capital expenses  
(refer Notes 15 and 18 of the financial statements).

Statement of Cash Flows

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Company made cash payments to suppliers and employees totaling 
$(1,698,244) (2018: $(239,406)). The majority of these payments related to payments to the expanded leadership 
team, the Company’s planned IPO and expanding its medicinal cannabis operations. Cash inflows of $2,000,000 
were received as a result of drawdowns of the two loan facilities with Cronos Group Inc. and NewSouthern Capital 
Pty. Ltd., as described in Notes 15 and 18. Net assets totaling $73,322 were assumed upon the acquisition of 
Cronos Australia – Operations Pty. Ltd. and Cronos Australia – Marketing & Distribution Pty. Ltd. as part of the 
restructure that occurred on 27 September 2018, as described in Note 2(a) of the financial statements.

Profit/(loss) per share
The basic and diluted profit/(loss) per share for the year ended 30 June 2019 was $(0.96) (2018: $6,264.54). 

Material business risks
The Group operates in the medicinal cannabis industry in Australia and is in the development phase.  
Given the early stage of the industry as a whole, any investment in companies such as CAL should be 
considered high-risk. The Group is subject to a range of normal business risks including, but not limited 
to its ability to hire high quality personnel, government policies and legislative changes, the state of markets 
generally, exchange rate fluctuations and a range of other factors which are outside the control of the  
Board and management.

More specific material risks that are applicable to the industry and the Group include, but are not limited to:

• Regulatory. The Group’s ability to research, develop and commercialise its products is dependent on  
its ability to maintain the medicinal cannabis licences that have been granted to it by the Office of Drug 
Control (“ODC”). While the Group intends to submit renewal applications by the required dates and is not 
aware of any reason why the ODC would refuse to renew the licences, the Company cannot guarantee 
that the licences will be renewed. The licences are subject to conditions and a failure to comply with those 
conditions may result in one or more of the licences being suspended or revoked, which could prevent the 
Group from carrying out its proposed activities.

• PEACE NATURALS™ products. The import licence and related permits issued to the Group, together with 
the licence to sell or supply by wholesale, are required to permit the importation and supply of finished 
PEACE NATURALS™ products from Cronos Group Inc. If such licences and/or permits are not renewed  
or are otherwise revoked, the Company will be prevented from selling imported PEACE NATURALS™ 
products, which will in turn have an adverse impact on its prospects. CAL cannot guarantee that the 
licences and permits will be granted/renewed.
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• Medicinal cannabis industry in Australia. An investment in an industry in the early stages of development, 
such as the Australian medicinal cannabis industry, should be considered speculative and involves 
several risks, including obstacles or delays in the implementation of business plans and uncertainties 
associated with the ability to generate revenue and with the medicinal cannabis legislative regime in 
Australia generally. The amendments to the Narcotics Drug Act in relation to medicinal cannabis came 
into full effect in Australia in October 2016. While the ODC has published regulations and guidelines in 
relation to the application of the reforms, there is currently limited market guidance available. Given the 
continuing developments in the relevant laws and regulations, there is a risk that a regulatory body could, 
in future, change the application of these laws which may adversely impact the Group.

Material business risks (continued)
• Development of brands and products. Medicinal cannabis companies rely on their ability to maintain  

a supply of specific plant varieties for the products they produce. The Group has a need to maintain  
the supply of a high-yield product from growing and extracting operations which may be impacted  
by plant diseases, interruptions to the controlled environment required to produce medicinal cannabis, 
underestimating the costs and time to cultivate and produce products, access to key inputs and the 
impact of legislation in Australia and in other countries. These factors can impact on growing times,  
the number of harvests and production yields. Adverse outcomes in relation to these matters may affect  
the Group’s proposed activities, operations and financial performance. CAL’s business involves the 
development of brands and products that require medicinal cannabis whose production is susceptible  
to risks such as insects, disease, storm, fire, frost, flood, drought, water availability and salinity, pests  
and force majeure events.

• IP Licence from Cronos Group. The Group has entered into an IP Licence with Cronos Group Inc. pursuant 
to which Cronos Group has granted the Group a sole licence in certain intellectual property rights and to 
provide access to certain trade secrets and know-how relating to medicinal cannabis. The IP Licence has 
an initial term of 10 years and will automatically extend for further one-year terms unless terminated by 
either party. The licences granted under the IP Licence are “sole” licences, meaning that Cronos Group 
(and/or its affiliates) are permitted to exploit the subject matter of the relevant licence (including trademarks) 
in Australia, New Zealand and certain countries in South East Asia. As a consequence, there is a risk that 
Cronos Group may compete with the Group in these markets.

 Cronos Group may terminate the IP Licence under certain circumstances, including where CAL undergoes 
a change in control or where Cronos Group ceases to beneficially hold at least 5% of the voting shares  
in CAL. On termination, the Group will have one year to cease using the IP and all confidential information. 
Where Cronos Group ceases to beneficially hold at least 20% of the total voting shares in CAL, Cronos 
Group may terminate the Trademark Licences. On termination in this instance, the Group will have  
180 days to cease all uses of the Trademarks and for CAL and its subsidiaries to change their names. 
CAL’s ability to carry out its proposed activities and operations will, at least initially, be dependent upon 
Cronos Group complying with its obligations under the IP Licence. If the IP Licence is terminated before 
CAL has commenced its operations or developed its own IP, the termination of the Licence could have  
an adverse impact on the prospects of the Group.

• Growth prospects and expansion plans. CAL’s prospects depend upon various factors, including  
product acceptance. If CAL fails to execute its plans, its financial performance is likely to be affected. 
CAL’s financial prospects are dependent on there being sufficient demand for medicinal cannabis  
and related products in Australia and other markets that the Company may seek to enter in the future. 
There is also a risk that the volume of medicinal cannabis products available in Australia will outstrip the 
demand for those products, which may result in lower product prices which could adversely affect the 
financial performance of CAL. The Company’s ability to achieve its growth strategy is also dependent  
on it being able to export its products internationally which may require changes in the laws relating to 
cannabis in each of those countries to allow for the importation of the types of products produced by CAL. 
There are no guarantees that the laws of any of the target markets will be amended or that the Company 
will be able to access such markets.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

• Uncertainty of future revenue and profitability. The Group has not yet generated any revenue. Future sales 
of medicinal cannabis and related products by the Group and its future profitability are contingent on, 
amongst other things, its ability to obtain and maintain the required licences and permits, develop new 
products and brands, entry into appropriate supply, distribution, import and export arrangements, 
general market conditions, and the results of further medical research and trials in relation to medicinal 
cannabis. Consequently, the level of any future sales of products by the Group cannot be accurately 
determined and CAL cannot provide any guarantee that future sales will be achieved and, even if future 
sales are achieved, they may not result in the Group being profitable. 

• Competition. The Australian medicinal cannabis market is becoming increasingly competitive and subject 
to rapid ongoing development. There can be no assurances that the competitive environment will not 
change adversely due to the actions of governments or competitors or changes in customer preferences. 
The actions of an existing competitor or the introduction of a new competitor in a given market may make  
it difficult for the Group to increase its revenue which, in turn, may have an adverse effect on its profitability. 

• Product and testing risks. In the event that any of the Group’s products cause serious side effects, or are 
misused, abused or diverted, CAL may be exposed to increased compliance costs to carry out trials or 
testing or regulatory authorities may revoke approvals that have been granted to the Company, impose 
more onerous facility standards or product labelling requirements or require it to conduct a product recall. 
In these circumstances, CAL could also be subject to regulatory action or be held liable for any harm caused 
which could have an adverse effect on its business, results of operations, financial condition and reputation.

In accordance with good business practice in the medicinal cannabis industry, the Group’s management 
actively and routinely employs a variety of risk management strategies which are broadly described in the 
Corporate Governance Statement under the heading Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk.

The Board believes that the Group is not yet sufficiently large to warrant the appointment of an internal auditor.

Environment and regulation
The Group may be subject to environmental regulations and other licences in respect of its potential  
facility in central Victoria (refer Note 23). The Board believes there are adequate systems in place to ensure 
the Group’s compliance with relevant Federal, State and Local government environmental regulations and 
the Board is not aware of any breach of applicable environmental regulations by the Group. There were no 
significant changes in laws or regulations during the period from incorporation to 30 June 2019 or since  
the end of the year affecting the business activities of the Group and the Board is not aware of any such 
changes in the near future.

Share options
Unissued shares under option
As at 30 June 2019, the Company had no ordinary shares under option.

Shares issued as a result of the exercise of options
During the year ended 30 June 2019, no ordinary shares were issued as a result of the exercise of any options.

Indemnification and insurance of Directors and Officers
During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Company paid premiums in respect of a contract insuring the 
Directors and Officers of the Company and any related body corporate against a liability incurred in his  
or her capacity as a Director or Officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract  
of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the insurance provided and the amount of the premium. 
The Company has agreed to indemnify the current and former Directors and Executive Officers against all 
liabilities to other persons that may arise from their position as Directors or Officers of the Company and its 
subsidiaries, except in circumstances including where the individual concerned has committed an illegal 
act, wilful misconduct or dishonesty or where to do so would be generally prohibited by law.
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Remuneration Report
Introduction
This Remuneration Report outlines the Director and Executive remuneration arrangements of Cronos 
Australia Limited (“CAL” and the “Company”) and its four subsidiaries as at 30 June 2019 (collectively, the 
“Group”) in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and its Regulations. For the 
purposes of this Report, Key Management Personnel (“KMP”) of the Group are defined as those persons 
having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the Company 
and the Group, directly or indirectly, including any Director (whether executive or not) of the parent company, 
and includes the four executives in the Group, as set out below, receiving the highest levels of remuneration.

For the purposes of this Remuneration Report, the term “Executive” encompasses the Group’s Chief Executive 
Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer and General Counsel/Company Secretary. All four 
Executives were appointed during the period under review. For details regarding these appointments, please 
refer to the notes at the foot of the Remuneration Table on page 19.

Details of Directors and Key Management Personnel as at balance date

Directors Executives

Shane F. Tanner  
(Non-Executive Chairman)

Rodney D. Cocks  
(Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director)

Daniel E. Abrahams  
(Non-Executive Director)

Peter J. Righetti  
(Chief Operating Officer/Executive Director)

Jason M. Adler  
(Non-Executive Director)

Thomas G. Howitt  
(Chief Financial Officer)

Anna E. Burke AO  
(Non-Executive Director)

Lior Harel  
(General Counsel/Company Secretary)

Michael R. Gorenstein  
(Non-Executive Director)

Nomination and Remuneration Committee
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company was established 
on 28 February 2019 and is, amongst other things, responsible for determining and reviewing remuneration 
arrangements for the Directors, the Chief Executive Officer and the Executive Team. The Committee is 
chaired by Anna Burke AO and has as its members Shane Tanner and Daniel Abrahams, all three of  
whom are independent directors.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee was established to assess the appropriateness of the nature 
and amount of remuneration paid to Directors and Executives on a periodic basis by reference to relevant 
employment market conditions (as described further below), with the overall objective of ensuring maximum 
shareholder benefit from the retention of a high quality Board and Executive Team.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Remuneration strategy
The performance of the Company depends upon the quality of its Directors and Executives. To prosper,  
the Company must attract, motivate and retain appropriately skilled Directors and Executives.

To this end, the Company embodies the following principles in its remuneration framework:

• provide competitive rewards to attract high calibre Executives;

• wherever possible, link Executive rewards to the creation of shareholder value;

• ensure that a portion of an Executive’s remuneration is “at risk”; and

• establish appropriate and demanding performance hurdles for variable Executive remuneration.

The Company’s remuneration strategy is approved by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

Remuneration structure
In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of Non-Executive Director  
and Executive remuneration is separate and distinct.

The key performance indicators applicable for Executives are quantifiable and the methods of measurement 
are defined and agreed in advance. Potential levels of remuneration are linked to each performance indicator 
based on the pretext that if the performance indicators as defined are met then the business will have more 
likely achieved its key financial or strategic objectives. In addition to the various key performance indicators 
that are used to assess the performance of each Executive, the overall financial performance of the Company 
is also taken into consideration when determining both base levels of remuneration and short-term incentive 
payments that may be made to those individuals.

Non-Executive Director remuneration
Objective

The Board seeks to set aggregate remuneration at a level which provides the Company with the ability to 
attract and retain Directors of the highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost which is acceptable to shareholders.

Structure

The Company’s Constitution and the Listing Rules of the Australian Securities Exchange specify that the 
aggregate remuneration of Non-Executive Directors shall be determined from time to time by a General 
Meeting of shareholders. An amount not exceeding the amount determined is then divided between the 
Directors, as agreed. The most recent determination was made on 4 September 2019, when an aggregate 
remuneration not exceeding $400,000 per year was approved.

The amount of aggregate remuneration sought to be approved by shareholders and the manner in which  
it is apportioned amongst the Directors are reviewed annually.

Each Non-Executive Director receives a fee for serving as a Director of the Company. No additional fees are 
paid to any Director for serving on either of the two sub-committees of the Board. The fees paid to Directors 
may comprise a combination of cash and equity securities which would be granted under the Company’s 
Equity Incentive Plan (“Plan”).
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Executive remuneration
Objective
The Group aims to reward its Executives with a level and mix of remuneration which is commensurate  
with their positions and responsibilities within the Group and so as to:

• reward Executives for Group and individual performance against targets set by reference to  
suitable benchmarks;

• align the interests of Executives with those of the shareholders; and

• ensure that the total remuneration paid is competitive by market standards.

Structure
The remuneration paid to Executives is set with reference to prevailing market levels and conditions and 
amounts paid by comparable companies. The total remuneration paid comprises a fixed remuneration 
component comprising base salary and superannuation, together with a variable remuneration component 
(which is linked to agreed Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”)) as described below, which comprise both 
short-term incentive payments and the granting of long-term equity securities.

Fixed remuneration
Objective
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee oversees the setting of fixed remuneration on an annual 
basis. The process consists of a review of Company, divisional and individual performance, relevant 
comparative remuneration being paid in the broader market and internally and, where appropriate,  
external advice on policies and practices. The members of the Committee have access to external  
advice independent of Management, if required.

Structure
Fixed remuneration consists of some or all of the following components:

• base salary;

• non-monetary benefits which may include costs associated with novated motor vehicle leases, vehicle 
parking etc. (and associated fringe benefits tax, if applicable); and

• superannuation benefits, which includes statutory employer contributions.

With the exception of the employer contributions to superannuation, Executives are given some flexibility to 
decide the composition of their total fixed remuneration and the allocation between cash and other benefits. 
It is intended that the manner of payment chosen will be optimal for the recipient without creating any 
additional cost for the Group.

Fixed remuneration is reviewed annually with reference to individual performance, market benchmarks for 
individual roles and the overall financial performance of the Group. Any changes to the fixed remuneration  
of Executives are first approved by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

All employee remuneration is evaluated on a regular basis using a set of variables and taking into account 
the addition of statutory superannuation contributions. An assessment of existing base salaries is made 
annually using comparisons against independent market data which provides information on salaries and 
other benefits paid for comparable roles within the life sciences sector, using third party salary survey data. 
Annual performance reviews with each employee are based on a rating system which is used to assess his 
or her eligibility for salary increases. Other qualitative factors, including the specialised knowledge and 
experience of the individual and the perceived difficulty of replacing that person, are also taken into account 
when considering salary adjustments.

In respect of the year ending 30 June 2020, the Company will target a remuneration mix for certain members 
of KMP of 70% fixed remuneration and 30% at risk remuneration (comprising 15% short term and 15% long 
term components).
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Variable remuneration
Objective
The objective of variable remuneration is to:

• align the interests of Executives with those of the shareholders;

• link Executive rewards to the achievement of strategic goals and performance of the Company; and

• ensure that the total remuneration paid by the Company is competitive by market standards.

Short Term Incentive (“STI”)
STI is an annual plan that applies to Executives and other senior employees which is based on the performance 
of both the Company and the individual during a given financial year. The levels of STI payments made vary 
depending on the role, responsibilities and deliverables achieved by each individual during the period under 
review. Actual STI payments made to the relevant employee will depend on the extent to which the pre-agreed 
specific targets are met within a financial year. Specific targets are quantifiable with the agreed method of 
measurement being defined and agreed at the beginning of the financial year. The ongoing performance  
of the Executive or senior employee is evaluated regularly during the performance cycle. 

Group objectives, and their relative weightings, vary depending on the position and responsibility of the 
respective individual, but in respect of the year ended 30 June 2019 they include, amongst other things,  
the achievement of:

• all tasks necessary for the Company to progress its proposed IPO and listing on the ASX, including  
the raising of $20 million in new equity to fund the Group’s strategic business objectives;

• contributing to business growth and expansion in accordance with the Group’s business plan; and

• overall performance and the delivery of results which meet or exceed agreed targets.

As the Company continues to expand its operations post IPO, future STI payments will also be based  
on other factors including, amongst other things, the achievement of:

• earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”) and net profit targets, where  
an individual has capacity to impact this result;

• achieving or exceeding agreed revenue targets; and

• achieving targets for cost reduction or efficiency gains.

These latter measures are chosen as they represent the key drivers for the short-term success of the business 
and provide a framework for delivering long-term value for shareholders. Personal and operating objectives 
vary according to the role and responsibility of the Executive and include a number of specific objectives 
such as progress in respect of project delivery, capital management, regulatory and compliance outcomes, 
intellectual property management and various staff management and other leadership objectives as agreed 
with the Chief Executive Officer.

Achievement of an individual’s targets or objectives is documented and assessed by both the individual and 
his or her direct manager. Each individual participates in an annual performance review and must provide 
evidence of the objectives that he or she has delivered during the period under review. Each objective is then 
rated on an agreed achievement scale. Depending on the aggregate of the ratings achieved, the individual 
may be eligible to receive an STI payment. STI payments, if any, are typically paid in August or September  
of each year in relation to the previous year, subject to the completion of the performance review process 
and the receipt of a satisfactory rating. The Board conducts this process in the case of the Chief Executive 
Officer. Any such STI payments which may be made are delivered during the following reporting period  
as a combination of cash payments and the granting of equity securities pursuant to the Plan.

In respect of the year ended 30 June 2019, payments totalling $67,814 were accrued as at balance date  
in respect of STI payments due to certain members of KMP following the successful achievement of the 
targets outlined above.
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Variable remuneration (continued)

Long Term Incentive (“LTI”)
In order to attract, retain and incentivise high-performing senior executives and to align their overall 
remuneration with the creation of shareholder wealth, the Company has implemented an Equity Incentive 
Plan (the “Plan”). LTI grants made to Executives and senior employees are delivered in the form of options 
over unissued ordinary shares in the Company which are granted under the terms and conditions of the 
Plan. Only Executives who are able to influence the generation of shareholder wealth and have a material 
impact on the Group’s long-term profitability are invited to participate in the Plan. The total value of the LTI 
grants made to a given Executive varies and is determined with reference to the nature of the individual’s 
role, as well as his or her individual potential and specific performance, and are calculated as a percentage 
of base salary with reference to the various independent measures, as explained below.

It is proposed that the initial grants of securities under the Plan will be made to the Company’s Chief Financial 
Officer and General Counsel/Company Secretary immediately after the conclusion of the Company’s IPO, which 
is anticipated to occur prior to the end of the 2019 calendar year. Equity grants to the Company’s Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Operating Officer are not proposed at this time given their significant shareholdings in CAL, 
though this situation may change in the future. Apart from certain time vesting provisions, there are no specific 
performance hurdles in respect of the proposed LTI grants that are to be made to Executives. Such options also 
serve as a retention tool and may reduce the likelihood of high-performing Executives and senior employees 
resigning or being targeted by other companies.

It is proposed that the options described above will be granted at no cost, have a life of four years and vest  
in three equal tranches after 12, 24 and 36 months from the date on which they were granted.

In cases where an Executive ceases employment prior to the vesting of his or her options, the options are 
forfeited after a prescribed period if they have not been exercised. The prescribed period ranges from two  
to twelve months, depending on the circumstances under which they left the Company, e.g. resignation, 
retirement, termination or death. In the event of a change of control of the Company, the performance  
period end date will be brought forward to the date of the change of control and all awards will vest over  
this shortened period.

Valuation of LTI grants

As stated above, the Company uses a variety of methods to calculate the percentage of a given Executive’s 
base salary that could be potentially made available in the form of LTI grants. Specifically, the Company 
considers industry-accepted rates for comparable companies to arrive at percentages that meet the 
objectives of the Plan (i.e. that they provide suitable retention and incentive characteristics) while at the 
same time being fair and reasonable for both the Company and the Executives.

In respect of the LTI securities that the Company plans to issue subsequent to balance date, the  
Company reviewed market surveys prepared by a number of independent organisations to assess the 
appropriate annual value of long-term equities to be issued to those two senior executives. The report 
chosen examined the composition of the total remuneration paid to more than 200 executives based  
on a number of categories pertaining to the relevant companies employing them, including market 
capitalisations, numbers of employees and industry sector. The figures obtained from the report were  
then used to calculate the average percentage that should be applied to the current base salaries of  
the Executives to obtain the maximum value of the LTI component that could be payable. Based on the  
50th percentile figure for each of the categories in the report, the percentage that the value of long-term 
equity grants represents of base salary was calculated to be 22%.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

In addition to the above analysis based on independent anonymous market data, the Company considered 
the value of the equity grants made to senior executives as a percentage of their base salaries by other 
ASX-listed healthcare companies that have granted long-term equities to retain and incentivise their executives. 
These companies included Cann Group (ASX: CAN), AusCann (ASX: AC8), StarPharma Holdings (ASX: SPH), 
Pharmaxis (ASX: PXS), Mayne Pharma (ASX: MYX), Impedimed (ASX: IPD), Admedus (ASX: AHZ) and Clinuvel 
Pharmaceuticals (ASX: CUV). The information obtained from this review confirmed that the above figure of 
22%, being the ratio of the value of long-term equity grants as a percentage of base salary in any given year, 
was well within the range being paid by other chosen ASX-listed healthcare companies.

The valuation of equity securities for accounting purposes is calculated using a Black Scholes model that 
takes into account a number of variables including exercise price, term, volatility, dividend payments, interest 
rates etc. Given the time value of an option, the longer the term of an option, the greater its value. For accounting 
purposes (AASB 2), the total share-based payments expense attributable to such securities is recognised 
evenly on a monthly basis over the vesting period applicable to the relevant security.

In order to calculate how many options could be granted to each executive to result in an annual share-based 
payments expense that represents approximately 22% of the individual’s current base salary, an independent 
valuation of the securities was sought and received from an independent accounting firm. These values will 
be used by the Company to calculate the total share-based payments expense that will be reflected in the 
Company’s financial statements for the year ending 30 June 2020 and beyond.

STI and LTI payments made 
In respect of the year ended 30 June 2019, the following remuneration, STI and LTI payments, and  
the percentages that each such payment represents relative to their respective salary/fees, were made  
to Executives:

Fixed remuneration At risk

Name and title of Executive
Salary/fees 

$

Proportion 
of total 

%
STI 
$

Proportion 
of total 

%
LTI 
$

Proportion 
of total 

%

Rodney D. Cocks 
Chief Executive Officer 300,000 100%  – – – –

Peter J. Righetti 
Chief Operating Officer 245,000 100%  – – – –

Thomas G. Howitt 
Chief Financial Officer 175,000 83.5% 34,521 16.5% – –

Lior Harel 
General Counsel/Co. Sec. 163,333 83.1% 33,293 16.9% – –

Totals 883,333 92.9% 67,814 7.1% – –

Note:

The fixed remuneration amounts disclosed above do not include statutory superannuation contributions made by the Company.
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Employment contracts
Rodney D. Cocks – Chief Executive Officer
The Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Rodney Cocks, commenced employment with the Group on 
1 July 2018 and is employed under an employment contract the key terms and conditions of which include:

• During the year ended 30 June 2019, Mr. Cocks’ annual remuneration package was $328,500, including 
statutory superannuation contributions as prescribed under the Superannuation Guarantee legislation;

• Mr. Cocks may resign from his position, and thus terminate the contract, by giving up to twelve months 
written notice and the Company may terminate his contract by providing similar written notice or 
providing payment in lieu of the notice period; and

• the Company may terminate Mr. Cocks’ contract at any time without notice if serious misconduct has 
occurred. Where this occurs with cause, he is only entitled to receive that portion of remuneration which  
is fixed and only up to the date of termination. In this instance, any entitlements to both STI and LTI are 
forfeited and would lapse. 

Peter J. Righetti – Chief Operating Officer
The Company’s Chief Operating Officer, Peter Righetti, commenced employment with the Group on 
1 July 2018 and is employed under an employment contract the key terms and conditions of which include:

• During the year ended 30 June 2019, Mr. Righetti’s annual remuneration package was $268,500, including 
statutory superannuation contributions as prescribed under the Superannuation Guarantee legislation;

• Mr. Righetti may resign from his position, and thus terminate the contract, by giving up to twelve months 
written notice and the Company may terminate his contract by providing similar written notice or providing 
payment in lieu of the notice period; and

• the Company may terminate Mr. Righetti’s contract at any time without notice if serious misconduct has 
occurred. Where this occurs with cause, he is only entitled to receive that portion of remuneration which  
is fixed and only up to the date of termination. In this instance, any entitlements to both STI and LTI are 
forfeited and would lapse.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Thomas G. Howitt – Chief Financial Officer
The Company’s Chief Financial Officer, Thomas Howitt, commenced employment with the Group  
on 3 December 2018 and is employed under an employment contract the key terms and conditions  
of which include:

• During the year ended 30 June 2019, Mr. Howitt’s annual remuneration package was $328,500, including 
statutory superannuation contributions as prescribed under the Superannuation Guarantee legislation;

• Mr. Howitt is entitled to receive an STI payment equivalent to a maximum of 20% of his base salary based 
on the achievement of Key Performance Indicators, as agreed with the Board from time to time;

• Mr. Howitt is entitled to receive various equity securities, including options over the Company’s ordinary 
shares and performance rights, subject to the terms of the Company’s Equity Incentive Plan (“Plan”).  
The granting of securities under the Plan are subject to the achievement of agreed Key Performance 
Indicators, the discretion of the CEO and the approval of the Board;

• Mr. Howitt may resign from his position, and thus terminate the contract, by giving up to two months 
written notice and the Company may terminate his contract by providing similar written notice or 
providing payment in lieu of the notice period; and

• the Company may terminate Mr. Howitt’s contract at any time without notice if serious misconduct has 
occurred. Where this occurs with cause, he is only entitled to receive that portion of remuneration which  
is fixed and only up to the date of termination. In this instance, any entitlements to both STI and LTI are 
forfeited and would lapse.

Lior Harel – General Counsel and Company Secretary
The Company’s General Counsel and Company Secretary, Lior Harel, commenced employment with the 
Group on 22 October 2018 and is employed under an employment contract the key terms and conditions  
of which include:

• During the year ended 30 June 2019, Mr. Harel’s annual remuneration package was $268,275, including 
statutory superannuation contributions as prescribed under the Superannuation Guarantee legislation;

• Mr. Harel is entitled to receive an STI payment equivalent to a maximum of 20% of his base salary based 
on the achievement of Key Performance Indicators, as agreed with the Board from time to time;

• Mr. Harel is entitled to receive various equity securities, including options over the Company’s ordinary 
shares and performance rights, subject to the terms of the Company’s Equity Incentive Plan (“Plan”).  
The granting of securities under the Plan are subject to the achievement of agreed Key Performance 
Indicators, the discretion of the CEO and the approval of the Board;

• Mr. Harel may resign from his position, and thus terminate the contract, by giving up to two months written 
notice and the Company may terminate his contract by providing similar written notice or providing 
payment in lieu of the notice period; and

• the Company may terminate Mr. Harel’s contract at any time without notice if serious misconduct has 
occurred. Where this occurs with cause, he is only entitled to receive that portion of remuneration which  
is fixed and only up to the date of termination. In this instance, any entitlements to both STI and LTI are 
forfeited and would lapse.
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Remuneration of Key Management Personnel (“KMP”) – year ended 30 June 201910

Short-term
Post-

employment Totals

Salary/fees 
$

Other 
$

Super- 
annuation 

$

Options/
rights 

$ $

Name of Director

Shane F. Tanner1 

Non-Executive Chairman 86,795 – – – 86,795

Daniel E. Abrahams2 

Non-Executive Director 35,205 – – – 35,205

Jason M. Adler3 

Non-Executive Director 11,507 – – – 11,507

Anna E. Burke AO4 

Non-Executive Director 36,438 – 3,462 – 39,900

Michael R. Gorenstein5 

Non-Executive Director 12,466 – – – 12,466

Sub-total for Directors 182,411 – 3,462 – 185,873

Name of Executive

Rodney D. Cocks6 

CEO/Executive Director 300,000 – 28,500 – 328,500

Peter J. Righetti7,10 

COO/Executive Director 245,000 – 23,275 – 268,275

Thomas G. Howitt8 

Chief Financial Officer 175,000 34,521 16,625 – 226,146

Lior Harel9 

General Counsel/Co. Sec. 163,333 33,293 15,517 – 212,143

Sub-total for Executives 883,333 67,814 83,917 – 1,035,064

Totals for KMP 1,065,744 67,814 87,379 – 1,220,937

Notes:

The following changes to KMP occurred during the period from 1 July 2018 up to the date of this Report:

1. Mr. Shane Tanner was appointed as the Non-Executive Chairman of the Company on 9 October 2018.

2. Mr. Daniel Abrahams was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the Company on 17 October 2018. 

3. Mr. Jason Adler was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the Company on 8 April 2019.

4. Ms. Anna Burke AO was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the Company on 8 October 2018.

5. Mr. Michael Gorenstein was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the Company on 1 April 2019.

6. Mr. Rodney Cocks was appointed as Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director of the Company on 27 September 2018.  
Prior to that date, Mr. Cocks was employed by Cronos Australia – Operations Pty. Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,  
as from 1 July 2018.

7. Mr. Peter Righetti was appointed as Chief Operating Officer and Executive Director of the Company on 27 September 2018.  
Prior to that date, Mr. Righetti was employed by Cronos Australia – Operations Pty. Ltd.

8. Mr. Thomas Howitt was appointed as Chief Financial Officer of the Company on 3 December 2018.

9. Mr. Lior Harel was appointed as General Counsel and Company Secretary of the Company on 22 October 2018.

10. During the year ended 30 June 2018, Mr. Peter Righetti received salaries and superannuation totalling $134,601.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

The details of those Executives nominated as Key Management Personnel under section 300A of the 
Corporations Act 2001 have been disclosed in this Remuneration Report. No other employees of the 
Company meet the definition of “Key Management Personnel” as defined in IAS 24/(AASB 124) Related  
Party Disclosures, or “senior manager” as defined in the Corporations Act 2001.

End of Remuneration Report

Audit and non-audit services
The Company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties 
where the auditor’s expertise and experience with the Company and/or the Group are important, including 
work relating to the financial information that will be included in the Company’s Prospectus. Details of the 
amounts paid or payable to the auditor (KPMG) for audit and other services provided during the period under 
review is set out in the table below. 

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by KPMG 
to the Company and its subsidiaries. No other assurance services, taxation or advisory services have been 
provided by KPMG.

2019  
$

2018  
$

Statutory audits 45,000 12,000

Prospectus-related services 60,000  –

Total fees paid 105,000 12,000

Rounding of amounts 
The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 
2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, relating to the “rounding off’’ of 
amounts in the Directors’ Report. Amounts in the Directors’ Report have been rounded off in accordance 
with that Instrument to the nearest dollar.

Proceedings on behalf of the company
No proceedings have been brought or intervened in or on behalf of the Company with leave to the Court 
under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001.
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Directors’ meetings
Meeting attendances
The number of meetings of Directors held during the period from the date of incorporation up to the date of 
this Report, including Circular Resolutions passed by the Board, and the number of such meetings attended 
by each Director, were as follows:

Name of Director Eligible Attended

Shane F. Tanner 6 4

Rodney D. Cocks CSM 8 8

Peter J. Righetti 8 8

Daniel E. Abrahams 6 4

Jason M. Adler 3 2

Anna E. Burke AO 8 7

Michael R. Gorenstein 3 2

Sub-committee membership
As at the date of this Report, the Company had an Audit and Risk Committee (members: Daniel Abrahams 
(Chair), Shane Tanner and Anna Burke AO) and a Nomination and Remuneration Committee (members: 
Anna Burke AO (Chair), Shane Tanner and Daniel Abrahams). There was one meeting of the Audit and Risk 
Committee held during the period from the date of incorporation up to the date of this Report. The meeting 
was attended by all three members of the Committee. There were no meetings of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee held during the same period.

Auditor’s independence declaration
KPMG continues in office as auditor in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001. A copy  
of KPMG’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set  
out on page 22. 

This Report is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

 

SHANE F. TANNER RODNEY D. COCKS 
Chairman Director

Melbourne, 13 September 2019
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration

 

 

 

 

 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under 
Professional Standards Legislation. 

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG 
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 

 

Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under 

Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 
 

To the Directors of Cronos Australia Limited 

 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit of Cronos Australia Limited 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2019 there have been: 

i. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the 
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

ii. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

  

KPMG Gordon Sangster 

 Partner 

 Melbourne 

 13 September 2019 
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Introduction
Cronos Australia Limited (“CAL” and the “Company”) and its Board are committed to achieving and 
demonstrating the highest standards of corporate governance. The Board continues to review its corporate 
governance framework and practices to ensure they meet the interests of shareholders. In this Statement, 
the Company and its four controlled entities as at 30 June 2019 are together referred to as the “Group”.

A description of the Group’s main corporate governance practices is set out below. Unless otherwise  
stated, all of these practices were in place for the entire period from the date of the Company’s incorporation 
(27 September 2018) to 30 June 2019 and on the whole comply with the Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations (including all relevant amendments) of the Australian Securities Exchange, notwithstanding 
that the Company was not listed on the ASX as at balance date. While in most respects, the Company complies 
with the Recommendations, in several areas, policies and practices are being further developed to bring 
them more closely into line. As new policies are produced, or as the existing ones are amended, they are 
published on the Company’s website.

As at the date of this Financial Report, the following Corporate Governance documents had been adopted by 
the Board, in addition to the Company’s Constitution which was adopted on 27 September 2018. All significant 
policies are published on the Company’s website (www.cronosaustralia.com).

• Board Charter, which defines the role of the Board and that of Management;

• Audit and Risk Committee Charter;

• Nomination and Remuneration Committee Charter;

• Code of Conduct;

• Continuous Disclosure Policy;

• Securities Trading Policy; and

• Diversity Policy.

ASX principles and recommendations
Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for management and oversight
The relationship between the Board and Management is critical to the Group’s success. The Directors  
are responsible to the shareholders for the performance of the Group in both the short and long terms  
and seek to balance sometimes competing objectives in the best interests of the Group as a whole, with  
a focus to enhance the interests of shareholders and other key stakeholders and to ensure the Group  
is properly managed.

The responsibilities of the Board include:

• providing strategic guidance to the Group as a whole, including contributing to the development  
of and approving the Group’s corporate strategy;

• reviewing and approving business plans, the annual budget and financial plans, including available 
resources and major capital expenditure initiatives;

• overseeing and monitoring:

– organisational performance and the achievement of the Group’s strategic goals and objectives;

– compliance with the Company’s Code of Conduct; and

– progress of major capital expenditures and other significant projects, including any acquisitions  
or divestments;

• monitoring the Group’s financial performance, including approval of the annual and half-year financial 
reports and regular liaison with the Company’s auditors;

• appointment, performance assessment and, if necessary, removal of the Chief Executive Officer;

Corporate Governance Statement
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• ratifying the appointment and/or removal and contributing to the performance assessment of the 
members of the Executive Team;

• ensuring there are effective management processes in place for approving major corporate initiatives;

• enhancing and protecting the reputation of the organisation;

• overseeing the operation of the Group’s system for compliance and risk management reporting to 
shareholders; and

• ensuring appropriate resources are available to senior Management to enable them to implement the 
strategies approved by the Board.

Day-to-day management of the Group’s affairs and the implementation of the corporate strategy and policy 
initiatives are formally delegated by the Board to the Chief Executive Officer and the Executive Team as set 
out in the Group’s delegations policies. These delegations are reviewed by the Board on an annual basis.

Performance appraisals for all members of the Executive Team last took place in July 2019. The process for 
these assessments is described in the Remuneration Report on pages 11 to 20 of this Financial Report.

Principle 2: Structure the Board to add value
The Board operates in accordance with the broad principles set out in its Charter which is available in  
the corporate governance information section of the Company’s website (www.cronosaustralia.com).  
The Charter provides details of the Board’s composition and responsibilities.

Board composition

The Charter states that:

• the Board should be comprised of executive and non-executive Directors, with a majority of non-executive 
Directors. Non-executive Directors bring a fresh perspective to the Board’s consideration of strategic, risk 
and performance matters;

• in recognition of the importance of independent views and the Board’s role in supervising the activities of 
Management, the Chairman must be an independent non-executive Director, the majority of the Board 
should be independent of Management and all Directors are required to exercise independent judgement 
and review and constructively challenge the performance of the Executive Team;

• the Chairman is elected by the full Board and is required to meet regularly with the Chief Executive Officer;

• the Company should, where possible, maintain a mix of Directors on the Board from different genders, 
age groups, ethnicity and cultural and professional backgrounds who have complementary skills  
and experience;

• the Board is to establish measurable Board gender diversity objectives and assess annually the 
objectives and progress made in achieving them; and

• the Board should undertake an annual Board performance review and consider the appropriate mix  
of skills required by the Board to maximise its effectiveness and its contribution to the Group.

The Board seeks to ensure that:

• at any point in time, its membership represents an appropriate balance between directors with 
experience and knowledge of the Group and directors with an external or fresh perspective; and

• the size of the Board is conducive to effective discussion and efficient decision-making.
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Principle 2: Structure the Board to add value (continued)
Directors’ independence

The Board has adopted specific principles in relation to the independence of its Directors. These principles 
state that, when determining independence, a Director should be a non-executive and the Board should 
consider whether the Director:

• is a substantial shareholder of the Company or an officer of, or otherwise associated directly with,  
a substantial shareholder of the Company;

• is, or has been, employed in an executive capacity by the Company or any other Group member within 
three years before commencing his or her service on the Board;

• within the last three years has been a principal of a material professional adviser or a material consultant to 
the Company or any other Group member, or an employee materially associated with the service provided;

• is a material supplier or customer of the Company or any other Group member, or an officer of or otherwise 
associated directly or indirectly with a material supplier or customer;

• has a material contractual relationship with the Company or a controlled entity other than as a Director  
of the Group; and

• is free from any business or other relationship which could, or could reasonably be perceived to, materially 
interfere with the Director’s independent exercise of his or her judgement.

Materiality for these purposes is determined on both quantitative and qualitative bases. An amount of over  
five percent of annual turnover of the Company or Group or five percent of the individual Director’s net worth is 
considered material for these purposes. In addition, a transaction of any amount or a relationship is deemed 
material if knowledge of it may impact the shareholders’ understanding of the Director’s performance.

It is a generally held view that a Director’s independence may be perceived to be impacted by lengthy 
service on the Board. To avoid any potential concerns, the Board has determined that a Director will not  
be deemed independent if he or she has served on the Board of the Company for more than ten years.

The Board assesses independence each year. To enable this process, the Directors must provide all 
information that may be relevant to the assessment.

Board members

Details of the members of the Board, their experience, expertise, qualifications, term of office, relationships 
affecting their independence and their independent status are set out in the Directors’ Report. As at the date 
of signing the Directors’ Report, three of the Directors served as non-executive Directors who had none of 
the above relationships which may adversely affect their independence and, as such, they are deemed 
independent under the principles set out above.

Term of office

The Company’s Constitution specifies that all non-executive Directors must retire from office no later than 
the third Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) following his or her last election. Where eligible, a Director may 
stand for re-election.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”)

The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board, ensuring that Directors are properly briefed in all matters 
relevant to their role and responsibilities, facilitating Board discussions and managing the Board’s relationship 
with the Company’s Executive Team. In accepting the position, the Chairman acknowledged that the role  
will require a significant time commitment and has confirmed that other positions will not hinder his effective 
performance in that role.

The CEO is responsible for implementing Group strategies and policies. The Board Charter specifies that the 
Chairman and CEO are separate roles to be undertaken by separate people.
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Induction

The induction provided to new Directors enables them to actively participate in Board decision-making as 
soon as possible. It ensures that each Director has a complete understanding of the Company’s financial 
position, strategies, operations, culture, values and risk management policies. It also explains the respective 
rights, duties, responsibilities, interaction and roles of the Board and the Executive Team and the Company’s 
meeting arrangements.

Commitment

The Board held/passed a total of eight Board meetings and Circular Resolutions during the period from  
the date of the Company’s incorporation to the date of the Directors’ Report. Non-executive Directors are 
expected to spend adequate time preparing for and attending Board and Sub-Committee meetings and 
associated activities. The number of meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors and of each Board 
Sub-Committee held during the above period, and the number of such meetings attended, or resolutions 
passed by, each Director are disclosed on page 21 of the Directors’ Report.

The commitments of all non-executive Directors are considered by the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee prior to the Director’s appointment to the Board and are reviewed each year as part of the 
annual performance assessment. Prior to appointment or re-election, each non-executive Director is 
required to specifically acknowledge that they have, and will continue to have, the time available to 
discharge their responsibilities to the Company.

Conflict of interests

In accordance with the Board Charter, all Directors are required to declare all interests in dealings with the 
Company and are required to take no part in decisions relating to them. In addition, those Directors are not 
entitled to receive any papers from the Group pertaining to those dealings. No declarations were received 
from any Directors during the period from the date of the Company’s incorporation to the date of signing  
the Directors’ Report.

Independent professional advice

All Directors and members of the Board’s two Sub-Committees have the right, in connection with their duties 
and responsibilities, to seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense. Prior written approval 
of the Chairman is required, however such approval will not be unreasonably withheld.

Performance assessment

The Board undertakes an ongoing self-assessment of its collective performance, the performance of the 
Chairman and of its two Sub-Committees. The assessment also considers the adequacy of the Company’s 
induction and continuing education processes, access to information and the support provided by the 
Company Secretary.

Members of the Executive Team are invited to contribute to this appraisal process. The results and any action 
plans are documented, together with performance goals which are agreed for the coming year. The Chairman 
undertakes an assessment of the performance of all individual Directors and meets with each Director to 
discuss this assessment.
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Principle 2: Structure the Board to add value (continued)
Board Sub-Committees

The Board has established two Sub-Committees to assist in the execution of its duties and to enable detailed 
consideration of complex issues. The current Sub-Committees of the Board are the Audit and Risk Committee 
and Nomination and Remuneration Committee. Each Sub-Committee is comprised entirely of non-executive 
Directors. The structure and membership of each Sub-Committee is reviewed on an annual basis.

Each Sub-Committee has its own written Charter setting out its role and responsibilities and that of its members, 
its composition, structure, membership requirements and the manner in which the Sub-Committee is to 
operate. Both Charters are reviewed on an annual basis and are available on the Company’s website.  
All matters determined by the Sub-Committees are submitted to the full Board as recommendations for 
Board decisions.

All minutes of Sub-Committee meetings are tabled at the subsequent Board meeting. Additional requirements 
for specific reporting by the Sub-Committees to the Board are addressed in the Charter of the individual 
Sub-Committees.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee

The Company’s Nomination and Remuneration Committee consists of Anna Burke AO (Chairman),  
Shane Tanner and Daniel Abrahams, all of whom are independent. Details of their attendance at meetings 
of the Committee are set out in the Directors’ Report on page 21. The Committee operates in accordance 
with its Charter which is available on the Company’s website. 

The main responsibilities of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee are to:

• conduct an annual review of the membership of the Board, having regard to present and future needs  
of the Company and to make recommendations on Board composition and appointments;

• conduct an annual review of, and conclude on the independence of, each Director;

• propose candidates to fill Board vacancies;

• oversee the annual performance assessment program;

• oversee Board succession, including the succession of the Chairman, and review whether succession 
plans are in place to maintain an appropriately balanced mix of skills, experience and diversity on the 
Board; and

• assess the effectiveness of the induction process.

When a new Director is to be appointed, the Committee prepares a Board skills matrix to review the range  
of skills, experience and expertise on the Board, and to identify its needs. From this, the Committee prepares 
a short-list of candidates with appropriate skills and experience. A number of channels are used to source 
candidates to ensure the Company benefits from a diverse range of individuals in the selection process. 
Where necessary, advice is sought from independent search consultants.

The full Board then appoints the most suitable candidate who must stand for election at the Company’s next 
AGM. The Committee’s nomination of existing Directors for reappointment is not automatic and is contingent 
on their past performance, contribution to the effective operation of the Board and the current and future 
needs of both the Board and Company. The Board and the Committee are aware of the advantages of 
Board renewal and succession planning.

Notices of meetings for the election of Directors comply with the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s best 
practice recommendations.

New Directors are provided with a letter of appointment setting out the Company’s expectations of them, 
their responsibilities, rights and the terms and conditions of their employment. All new Directors participate 
in a formal induction program which covers the operation of the Board and its Sub-Committees and 
financial, strategic, operations and risk management issues.
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Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible decision making
Code of conduct

The Company has developed a statement of values and a Code of Conduct (the “Code”) which has been 
fully endorsed by the Board and applies to all Directors. The Code is regularly reviewed and updated as 
necessary to ensure it reflects the highest standards of behaviour and professionalism and the practices 
necessary to maintain confidence in the Group’s integrity and to take into account legal obligations and 
reasonable expectations of the Company’s stakeholders.

In summary, the Code requires that at all times Directors and employees act with the utmost integrity, 
objectivity and in compliance with the letter and the spirit of the law and company policies.

The purchase and sale of Company securities by Directors and employees is governed by the Securities 
Trading Policy. Such trading is not permitted during the two-month periods immediately following the end  
of the Company’s two financial half-years, i.e. after 31 December and 30 June of each year. Any transactions 
undertaken by Directors outside of these periods must be notified to the Company Secretary in advance.

The Code requires employees who are aware of unethical practices within the Group or breaches of the 
Company’s Securities Trading Policy to report such breaches.

The Directors are satisfied that the Group has complied with its policies on ethical standards, including 
trading in the Company’s securities.

Copies of the Code and the Securities Trading Policy are available on the Company’s website.

Diversity policy

The Company values diversity and recognises the benefits it can bring to the organisation’s ability to achieve 
its goals. Accordingly, the Company has developed and introduced a diversity policy which outlines its diversity 
objectives in relation to gender, age, cultural background, ethnicity and other factors. It includes requirements 
for the Board to establish measurable objectives for achieving diversity, and for the Board to assess annually 
both the objectives, and the Company’s progress made in achieving them.

In accordance with the Company’s Diversity Policy and ASX Corporate Governance principles, the Board 
has established various objectives in relation to gender diversity. The aim is to achieve these objectives over 
the coming two to three years as relevant positions become vacant and appropriately-skilled candidates 
are available.

The objectives set by the Board in relation to gender diversity are set out in the following table.

Objective Actual

Category Number Percentage Number Percentage

Number of women in whole organisation 3 50% 0 0%

Number of women in Executive positions 1 25% 0 0%

Number of women on the Board 2 28% 1 14%

Responsibility for diversity has been included in the Charters for both the Board and the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee. The Company anticipates it will be able to achieve its diversity objectives as it 
expands its operations.
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Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in financial reporting
Audit and Risk Committee

The Audit and Risk Committee consists of Daniel Abrahams (Chairman), Shane Tanner and Anna Burke AO, 
all of whom are independent. Details of their attendance at meetings of the Committee are set out in the 
Directors’ Report on page 21. All members of the Audit and Risk Committee are financially literate and  
have an appropriate understanding of the industry in which the Group operates. The Committee operates  
in accordance with a Charter which is available on the Company’s website.

The main responsibilities of the Audit and Risk Committee are to:

• review, assess and approve the annual full and concise reports, the half-year financial report and all other 
financial information published by the Company or released to the Market;

• assist the Board in reviewing the effectiveness of the organisation’s internal control environment covering:

– effectiveness and efficiency of operations;

– reliability of financial reporting; and

– compliance with applicable laws and regulations;

• oversee the effective operation of the Company’s risk management framework;

• recommend to the Board the appointment, removal and remuneration of the external auditors, and review 
the terms of their engagement, the scope and quality of the audit and assess their performance;

• consider the independence and competence of the external auditor on an ongoing basis;

• review and approve the level of non-audit services provided by the Group’s external auditors and ensure 
that it does not adversely impact on the auditors’ independence;

• review and monitor all related party transactions and assess their propriety; and

• report to the Board on matters relevant to the Committee’s role and responsibilities.

In fulfilling its responsibilities, the Audit and Risk Committee:

• receives regular reports from Management and the Company’s external auditors;

• meets with the external auditors at least twice a year, or more frequently, if necessary;

• reviews the processes the CEO and CFO have in place to support their annual certifications to the Board;

• reviews any significant disagreements between the auditors and Management, irrespective of whether 
they have been resolved; and

• provides the external auditors with a clear line of direct communication at any time to either the Chairman 
of the Audit and Risk Committee or, if necessary, the Chairman of the Board.

The Audit and Risk Committee has authority, as part of its responsibilities, to seek any information it requires 
from any employee or external party.
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External auditors

The policy of the Company and the Audit and Risk Committee is to appoint external auditors who clearly 
demonstrate quality of service and independence. The performance of the external auditor is reviewed 
annually and applications for tender of external audit services are requested as deemed appropriate, taking 
into consideration assessment of performance, existing value and tender costs. KPMG was appointed as the 
external auditor in 2018. It is KPMG’s policy to rotate audit lead engagement partners on listed companies  
at least every five years.

An analysis of fees paid to the external auditors, including a break-down of fees for non-audit services, is 
provided in the Directors’ Report and in Note 26 to the financial statements. It is the policy of the external 
auditors to provide an annual declaration of their independence to the Audit and Risk Committee which  
is reproduced immediately following the Directors’ Report on page 22.

The external auditor attends the Company’s AGM and is available to answer shareholder questions  
about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of the audit report.

Principles 5 and 6:  Make timely and balanced disclosures and respect the rights  
of shareholders

Continuous disclosure and shareholder communication

The Company has written policies and procedures regarding information disclosure that focuses on 
continuous disclosure of any information concerning the Group that a reasonable person would expect to 
have a material effect on the price of the Company’s securities. These policies and procedures also include 
the arrangements the Company has in place to promote communication with shareholders and encourage 
effective participation at general meetings. A summary of these policies and procedures is available on the 
Company’s website.

The Company Secretary, supported by the Chief Financial Officer, has been nominated as the primary 
person responsible for communications with the Australian Securities Exchange (“ASX”). This role includes 
responsibility for ensuring compliance with the continuous disclosure requirements in the ASX Listing Rules 
and overseeing and co-ordinating information disclosure to the ASX, analysts, brokers, shareholders,  
the media and the public.

All information disclosed to the ASX is posted on the Company’s website as soon as it is disclosed to the 
ASX. When analysts are briefed on aspects of the Group’s operations, the material used in the presentation 
is also released to the ASX and posted on the Company’s website. Procedures have also been established 
for reviewing whether any price sensitive information has been inadvertently disclosed and, if so, this 
information is also immediately released to the Market.

The Company’s website also enables users to provide feedback and has an option for shareholders  
to register their email address for direct email updates on Company-related matters.

All shareholders are entitled to receive a hard copy of the Company’s Annual and Half-Year Reports  
which are also available for download on its website.
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Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk
The Board is responsible for satisfying itself annually, or more frequently as required, that Management  
has developed and implemented a sound system of risk management and internal control. Detailed work  
on this task is delegated to the Audit and Risk Committee and reviewed by the full Board.

The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for ensuring there are adequate policies in relation to risk 
management, compliance and internal control systems. The Committee monitors the Company’s risk 
management by overseeing Management’s actions in the evaluation, management, monitoring and 
reporting of material operational, financial, compliance and strategic risks.

In providing this oversight, the Committee:

• reviews the framework and methodology for risk identification, the degree of risk the Company is willing  
to accept, the management of risk and the processes for auditing and evaluating the Company’s risk 
management system;

• reviews Group-wide objectives in the context of the abovementioned categories of corporate risk;

• reviews and, where necessary, approves guidelines and policies governing the identification, assessment 
and management of the Company’s exposure to risk;

• reviews and approves the delegations of financial authorities and addresses any need to update these 
authorities on an annual basis; and

• reviews compliance with agreed policies.

The Committee recommends any actions it deems appropriate to the Board for its consideration.

Management is responsible for designing, implementing and reporting on the adequacy of the Company’s 
risk management and internal control system and has to report to the Audit and Risk Committee on the 
effectiveness of:

• the risk management and internal control system during the year; and

• the Company’s management of its material business risks.

Risk management group

The Company’s risk management policies and the operation of the risk management and compliance 
system are managed by the Company’s risk management group which consists of selected senior 
executives and is chaired by the Company’s Chief Financial Officer. The Board receives reports from  
this group as to the effectiveness of the Company’s management of material risks that may impede  
or impact on the Company’s ability to meet its business objectives.

Each of the Company’s business units report to the risk management group on the key business risks 
applicable to their respective areas. The review is undertaken by business unit management, following 
which the risk management group consolidates the business unit reports and recommends any actions  
to the Board for its consideration.
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Corporate reporting

In complying with recommendation 7.3, the CEO and CFO make the following annual certifications  
to the Board:

• that the Company’s financial reports are complete and present a true and fair view, in all material 
respects, of the financial condition and operational results of the Company and the Group and are  
in accordance with relevant accounting standards; and

• that the above statement is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal compliance  
and control which implements the policies adopted by the Board and that the Company’s risk management 
and internal compliance and control is operating efficiently and effectively in all material respects in 
relation to financial reporting risks.

Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly
All matters pertaining to the remuneration of the Company’s Directors and employees are overseen and 
managed by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee (as described above). Committee members 
consider information received from external remuneration experts in relation to recent developments on 
remuneration and related matters.

Each member of the Executive Team signs a formal employment contract at the time of his or her 
appointment which documents a range of matters including their duties, rights, responsibilities and any 
entitlements on termination. The standard contract refers to a specific formal job description which is 
reviewed by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee on a regular basis and, where necessary,  
is revised in consultation with the relevant employee.

Further information on Directors’ and Executives’ remuneration, including principles used to determine 
remuneration, is set out in the Directors’ Report under the heading “Remuneration Report”. In accordance 
with the Group’s policy, participants in equity-based remuneration plans are not permitted to enter into any 
transactions that would limit the economic risk of options or other unvested entitlements.

While no meetings of the Committee have yet been held, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee also 
assumes responsibility for overseeing management succession planning, including the implementation of 
appropriate executive development programs and ensuring adequate arrangements are in place, so that 
appropriate candidates are recruited for later promotion to senior positions.
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Consolidated

Notes

30 June 2019 
$

30 June 2018 
$

Other income 4 58,448 447,995

Expenses

 Accounting, tax and audit fees (319,348) (26,183)

 Administration expenses (305,155) (44,625)

 Finance costs (125,741) –

 Legal and regulatory expenses (189,007) (22,830)

 Personnel expenses (1,713,193) (156,501)

 Site establishment expenses (292,203) –

 Travel and accommodation (72,039) (5,520)

Profit/(loss) before income tax (2,958,238) 192,336

Share of losses of associates  – (60)

Income tax benefit/(expense) 7(a) 43,937 (41,927)

Profit/(loss) for the year 5 (2,914,301) 150,349

Basic and diluted profit/(loss) per share 6 (0.96) 6,264.54

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income/(loss)
For the year ended 30 June 2019

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated

Notes

30 June 2019 
$

30 June 2018 
$

Assets

Current Assets

 Cash and cash equivalents 9 159,679 58,702

 Trade and other receivables 10 39,447 140,664

 Other assets 11 1,373,527 12,583

Total Current Assets 1,572,653 211,949

Non-Current Assets

 Property, plant and equipment 12 76,402 96,478

 Intangible assets 13 200,000  –

Total Non-Current Assets 276,402 96,478

Total Assets 1,849,055 308,427

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

 Trade and other payables 14 2,436,354 141,649

 Interest-bearing liabilities 15 513,923  –

 Chattel mortgage liabilities 16 17,337 17,337

 Employee benefit provisions 17 2,968  –

Total Current Liabilities 2,970,582 158,986

Non-Current Liabilities

 Interest-bearing liabilities 18 1,606,027  –

 Chattel mortgage liabilities 16 64,639 81,976

Total Non-Current Liabilities 1,670,666 81,976

Total Liabilities 4,641,248 240,962

Net Assets/(Liabilities) (2,792,193) 67,465

Shareholders’ Equity

 Share capital 19 54,655 12

 Retained earnings/(accumulated losses) 20 (2,846,848) 67,453

Total Shareholders’ Equity (2,792,193) 67,465

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2019

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Share capital 
$

Retained 
earnings/ 

(accumulated 
losses) 

$
Totals 

$

Balance at 1 July 2017 12 (82,896) (82,884)

Profit for the year  – 150,349 150,349

Other comprehensive income/(loss)  –  –  –

Total comprehensive income/(loss)  – 150,349 150,349

Transactions with owners

 Issue of shares  –  –  –

Balance at 30 June 2018 12 67,453 67,465

Balance at 1 July 2018 12 67,453 67,465

Loss for the year  – (2,914,301) (2,914,301)

Other comprehensive income/(loss)  –  –  –

Total comprehensive income/(loss)  – (2,914,301) (2,914,301)

Transactions with owners

 Net assets acquired on Restructure (Note 19) 54,643  – 54,643

Balance at 30 June 2019 54,655 (2,846,848) (2,792,193)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated

Notes

30 June 2019 
$

30 June 2018 
$

Cash flows from/(used in) operating activities

 Receipts from customers  – 492,354

 Payments made to suppliers and employees (1,698,244) (239,406)

 Interest paid (4,675)  –

 Research and development tax incentive received 7(a) 43,937  –

 Interest received 1,243 401

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities 21(a) (1,657,739) 253,349

Cash flows from/(used in) investing activities

 Net assets assumed on Restructure 21(b) 73,322  –

 Purchases of plant and equipment 12 (7,179) (104,243)

Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities 66,143 (104,243)

Cash flows from/(used in) financing activities

 Proceeds from unsecured loans 15/18 2,000,000  –

 Payments of IPO-related expenses (290,090)  –

 Net movement in chattel mortgages 16(a) (17,337) 99,313

 Net increase in loans to related parties  – (119,816)

 Repayment of borrowings from development projects  – (73,759)

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities 1,692,573 (94,262)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents held 100,977 54,844

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 58,702 3,858

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 9 159,679 58,702

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2019

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

37Cronos Australia Financial Report 2019



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

1. Corporate information
The financial statements of Cronos Australia Limited (“CAL” and the “Company”) for the year ended 
30 June 2019 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.  
CAL was incorporated in Australia on 27 September 2018 and is a company limited by shares. 

The Company, together with its five subsidiaries, are referred to in these financial statements as the “Group”.

The Company plans to enter the medicinal cannabis market in Australia with a range of products,  
having secured all the necessary Australian licences to operate – including import and export licences. 
CAL’s operations are headquartered in Melbourne, Australia.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(a) Basis of preparation
These general-purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations 
Act 2001. Cronos Australia Limited is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial statements.

Compliance with IFRS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group also comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory, or early adopted Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet mandatory, have 
not been early adopted by the Group for the reporting year ended 30 June 2019.

AASB 9 Financial Instruments and AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers became effective  
for the first time during the year ended 30 June 2019. The application of the new Accounting Standards  
did not have a material impact on the Group. 

AASB 16 Leases becomes effective for the Group from 1 July 2019 and has not yet been adopted by the 
Group. As the Group has no significant leases as at balance date, the Company does not believe that the 
introduction of AASB 16 will have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements in the short term.  
To the extent that the Group enters into a lease in respect of the land near Daylesford in Victoria, as 
described in Note 23, the Company will assess the impact of the standard at that time.

Early adoption of standards

The Group has not elected to apply any pronouncements before their operative date in the annual reporting 
period beginning 1 July 2018.

Historical cost convention

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

Critical accounting estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. 
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates 
are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in Note 3.

38 Cronos Australia Financial Report 2019



Corporate restructure

On 27 September 2018, CAL became the ultimate holding company of the Cronos Australia Group (refer 
Note 25). Prior to that date, the Cronos Australia Group was comprised of two companies: Cronos Australia 
– Operations Pty. Ltd. (previously named Cronos Australia Pty. Ltd.) and Cronos Australia – Marketing & 
Distribution Pty. Ltd. (previously named Cronos (Distribution) Australia Pty. Ltd.). Both of these companies in 
turn were owned 50% by Cronos Group Inc. (a cannabis company listed on the Toronto and NASDAQ Stock 
Exchanges (ticker: CRON)) and 50% by Cronos Australia Group Pty. Ltd. (previously named NewSouthern 
Capital Pty. Ltd.). 

In turn, Cronos Australia Group Pty. Ltd. was owned:

• 50% by NewSouthern Investment Holdings 1 Pty. Ltd. (previously named RDC Investment Holdings Pty. 
Ltd., a company controlled by Rodney Cocks, a Director of CAL); and 

• 50% by NewSouthern Investment Holdings A Pty. Ltd. (previously named D.M. Consultants Pty. Ltd.,  
a company controlled by Peter Righetti, also a Director of CAL).

The reason for the restructure was to ensure that the Cronos Australia Group was appropriately structured  
for CAL’s proposed initial public offering of its shares (the “Offer”) to raise sufficient capital to fund its medicinal 
cannabis business. The Offer is expected to be completed before the end of the 2019 calendar year. 

The above restructure also involved the following activities:

• The transfer of the shares held by Cronos Group Inc. in both Cronos Australia – Operations Pty. Ltd. and 
Cronos Australia – Marketing & Distribution Pty. Ltd. to Cronos Australia Group Pty. Ltd. in exchange for 
new shares in Cronos Australia Group Pty. Ltd.;

• The transfer by Cronos Group Inc. of its shares in Cronos Australia Group Pty. Ltd. to Hortican Inc.  
(a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cronos Group Inc.) and a subsequent transfer of those shares from 
Hortican Inc. to Cronos Global Holdings Inc. (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hortican Inc.);

• The incorporation of Cronos Australia Limited on 27 September 2018;

• A “top hatting” that involved the transfer of all of the shares in Cronos Australia Group Pty. Ltd. from Cronos 
Global Holdings Inc., NewSouthern Investment Holdings 1 Pty. Ltd. and NewSouthern Investment Holdings A 
Pty. Ltd. to Cronos Australia Limited in exchange for shares in Cronos Australia Limited, and the continuation 
by Cronos Australia Limited of the business carried on by Cronos Australia Group Pty. Ltd.;

• The implementation of company name changes for all three Australian subsidiaries;

• The adoption of new constitutions by all Australian subsidiary members of the Cronos Australia Group; and

• A single share in Cronos Australia Limited that had previously been issued to D’Omkara Accountants  
Pty. Ltd. on incorporation being cancelled by way of a selective buy back and cancellation

(collectively, the “Restructure”).

On 27 September 2018, an Australian income tax consolidated group was formed by Cronos Australia 
Limited and its three wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries. In addition to the Restructure, two further  
group companies were subsequently incorporated as wholly-owned subsidiaries of Cronos Australia  
Group Pty. Ltd. The first, named Cronos Australia – New Zealand Limited, was incorporated on 
12 October 2018, while the second, named Cronos Australia – Asia Limited, was incorporated on 
25 July 2019.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

Accounting treatment of Restructure

Prior to the Restructure outlined above, Cronos Australia Group Pty. Ltd. held 50% of the shares in both 
Cronos Australia – Operations Pty. Ltd. and Cronos Australia – Marketing & Distribution Pty. Ltd., with the 
remaining 50% being held by parties associated with Cronos Group Inc. As it was deemed that Cronos 
Australia Group jointly controlled these entities together with Cronos Group Inc., Cronos Australia Group  
Pty. Ltd. accounted for its shares based on the equity method of accounting.

Cronos Australia Group Pty. Ltd. accounted for the transfer of shares as an asset acquisition as Cronos 
Australia – Operations Pty. Ltd. and Cronos Australia – Marketing & Distribution Pty. Ltd. did not meet the 
definition of a business for the purposes of AASB 3 Business Combinations. In asset acquisitions, the 
purchase consideration is allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their relative 
fair values. Considering that the transaction price was paid via the issue of shares, AASB 2 Share-based 
Payments applied to the acquisition of non-financial assets and AASB 9 Financial Instruments to the 
financial assets and liabilities. Consequently, both the non-financial and financial assets and financial 
liabilities of Cronos Australia – Operations Pty. Ltd. and Cronos Australia – Marketing & Distribution Pty. Ltd. 
were recognised by Cronos Australia Group Pty. Ltd. at fair value with the corresponding entry in equity, 
which also resulted in the recognition of the fair value of the licences held by Cronos Australia – Operations 
Pty. Ltd. ($200,000) (refer Note 13). The Directors of Cronos Australia Group Pty. Ltd. have determined the  
fair value of the licences to approximate the cost incurred in obtaining the licences.

Following the transfer of the shares held by Cronos Group Inc. in both Cronos Australia – Operations Pty. Ltd. 
and Cronos Australia – Marketing & Distribution Pty. Ltd. to Cronos Australia Group Pty. Ltd., in exchange for 
new shares in Cronos Australia Group Pty. Ltd., Cronos Australia Group Pty. Ltd. controlled the above entities 
and therefore consolidated these entities as from the date of acquisition, being 27 September 2018. 

The incorporation of Cronos Australia Limited and the “top hatting” by this entity of Cronos Australia Group 
Pty. Ltd. is deemed a capital reorganisation, rather than a business combination in accordance with AASB 3 
Business Combination. (refer Note 21(b)). The accounting implications of the capital reorganisation is that  
the existing accounting values of Cronos Australia Group Pty. Ltd. have been determined to represent the 
most appropriate values as the substance of the “top hatting” was to insert Cronos Australia Limited as the 
ultimate parent entity of the group prior to listing on the ASX (refer above). Consequently, Cronos Australia 
Limited is deemed to be a continuation of Cronos Australia Group Pty. Ltd. for accounting purposes.

Comparative information

As the “top hatting” of Cronos Australia Group Pty. Ltd. is deemed a capital reorganisation and Cronos 
Australia Limited is deemed to be a continuation of Cronos Australia Group Pty. Ltd., the comparative 
information presented in the financial statements is that of Cronos Australia Group Pty. Ltd. for the year 
ended 30 June 2018 and as at 30 June 2018, prior to the above Restructure taking place. 

Going concern

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group incurred a total comprehensive loss after income tax of 
$(2,914,301) (2018: profit after income tax of $150,349) and net cash outflows from operations of $(1,657,739) 
(2018: inflows from operations of $253,349). As at 30 June 2019, the Group held total cash reserves of 
$159,679 and had net current liabilities of $(1,397,929) and net total liabilities of $(2,792,193).

Subsequent to balance date, the Company received funds totaling $3,500,000 pursuant to 15 convertible loan 
agreements with various investors which were used to meet the Company’s working capital commitments and 
the costs associated with the Company’s proposed listing on the ASX. The loans will convert into ordinary 
shares to be issued under the Prospectus at a rate determined by dividing the value of the loan by an amount 
equal to 80% of the offer price for each share (i.e. a discount of 20%). No interest is payable on the loans.  
As at the date of this Financial Report, the total consolidated cash and cash equivalents held by the Group  
was approximately $1,138,000.
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The Financial Report is prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates continuity of normal 
operations and the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of business 
operations. In making this assessment, the Directors of the Company have considered future events  
and conditions for a period of at least 12 months from the date of approving these financial statements.

The Group’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon the financial support of its shareholders 
and/or raising additional funding. The Directors consider that it is appropriate for the financial statements to be 
prepared on a going concern basis based on the following mitigating factors:

• The Group has received a letter of financial support dated 13 September 2019 from Cronos Group Inc., 
NewSouthern Investment Holdings 1 Pty. Ltd. and NewSouthern Investment Holdings A Pty. Ltd. 
(collectively the “Shareholders”) in which the Shareholders have agreed to provide the Company with 
sufficient capital to enable it to meet its all of its liabilities and those of its wholly-owned subsidiaries, 
including the potential repayment of all convertible loans outstanding as at the date of the letter, as and 
when they fall due for a period which is the earlier of 12 months from the date of signing this Financial 
Report and the date on which the Company is admitted to the official list of the ASX, having raised no  
less than $20 million, before expenses;

• To fund the Group’s business model, CAL plans to raise funds through the issue of ordinary shares pursuant 
to an initial public offering of its shares (the “Offer”). A Prospectus covering the details of the Offer has been 
prepared which the Company anticipates will be lodged with ASIC before the end of the 2019 calendar year. 
An application will also be lodged with the ASX for admission to the official list of the ASX and the quotation 
of all shares (including the shares to be issued pursuant to the Prospectus) on the ASX. The Company 
anticipates that the Offer will be fully underwritten; and

• The Group’s major expenditures can be curtailed in line with cash requirements.

(b) New accounting standards and interpretations
New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory, or early adopted Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet mandatory, have 
not been early adopted by the Group for the reporting year ended 30 June 2019.

AASB 9 Financial Instruments and AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers became effective  
for the first time during the year ended 30 June 2019. The application of the new Accounting Standards  
did not have a material impact on the Group. 

AASB 16 Leases becomes effective for the Group from 1 July 2019 and has not yet been adopted by the 
Group. As the Group has no significant leases as at balance date, the Company does not believe that the 
introduction of AASB 16 will have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements in the short term.  
To the extent that the Group enters into a lease in respect of the land near Daylesford in Victoria, as 
described in Note 23, the Company will assess the impact of the standard at that time.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(c) Principles of consolidation

Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements of Cronos Australia Limited (the “Company”, “CAL” or the “Parent 
Entity”) for the year ended 30 June 2019 incorporate the assets and liabilities of the four subsidiaries it 
controlled as at balance date, being Cronos Australia Group Pty. Ltd., Cronos Australia – Operations  
Pty. Ltd., Cronos Australia – Marketing & Distribution Pty. Ltd. and Cronos Australia – New Zealand Limited 
and their results for the periods then ended. CAL and its four subsidiaries together are referred to in these 
financial statements as the “Group”.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group “controls” an entity when it is exposed to,  
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those  
returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date on which control commences until the date on which 
control ceases.

Intercompany transactions and unrealised gains/losses on transactions between Group companies  
are offset against the respective loan accounts and eliminated on consolidation. Expenses paid by one 
Group company on behalf of another and all intercompany charges are offset against the respective loan 
accounts. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment  
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries are changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with Group policies. Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of the subsidiaries are 
shown separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income/(loss), statement of financial 
position and statement of changes in equity, respectively.

The functional and presentation currency of the Company and its subsidiaries is the Australian dollar (AUD).

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint control, 
generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the entity’s voting rights. Investments 
in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting, after initially being recognised  
at fair market value. As at 30 June 2019, the Group has no investments in associates.

The Group’s share of any associate’s post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in profit or loss and  
its share of post-acquisition other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive income.  
The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. 
Dividends receivable from associates are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment. 
When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group 
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of  
the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the 
Group’s interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides 
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed 
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions 
with equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment between the carrying 
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary.  
Any difference between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any consideration 
paid or received is recognised in a reserve within equity attributable to owners of Cronos Australia Limited.

When the Group ceases to have control, joint control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity 
is remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value  
is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an 
associate, jointly controlled entity or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the 
related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
are reclassified to profit or loss. If the ownership interest in a jointly-controlled entity or an associate is reduced 
but joint control or significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss, where appropriate.

(d) Earnings per share (“EPS”)
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company by the total 
combined weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding at the end of the financial year. Diluted 
EPS adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic EPS to take into account the after income tax effect 
of interest and other financing costs associated with the dilutive potential of ordinary shares and the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive 
potential ordinary shares, if any.

(e) Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources 
and assessing the performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Company’s Chief 
Executive Officer.

(f) Income tax
The income tax expense or benefit for the year is the tax payable on the current year’s taxable income 
based on the national income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets  
and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and unused tax losses.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. 
However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or 
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have 
been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related 
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. Deferred tax assets are 
recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future 
taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(f) Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it  
is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying 
amount and tax bases of investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in 
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right 
to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation 
authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to 
offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised 
directly in equity. Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to 
items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Cronos Australia Limited formed a tax consolidated group with its wholly-owned Australian-resident 
subsidiaries on 27 September 2018.

(g) Other taxes
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of Australian Goods and Services Tax 
(GST), or the respective foreign equivalent thereof, except where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods 
and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of 
the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item, as applicable. Receivables and payables 
are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.  
Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis and the GST component arising  
from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from or payable to the taxation authority,  
are classified as operating cash flows.

(h) Government grants
Government grants are assistance provided by the government in the form of transfers of resources to  
the Group in return for past or future compliance with certain conditions relating to the operating activities  
of the Group. Government grants include government assistance where there are no conditions specifically 
relating to the operating activities of the Group other than the requirement to operate in certain regions  
or industry sectors. Amounts received in respect of grants are recognised as revenue when official 
confirmation that the respective grant will be made is received and the Company has satisfied all  
of its obligations under the respective grant.

(i) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an original 
maturity of three months or less. For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above. Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based 
on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and three 
months, depending on the Company’s immediate cash requirements, and earn interest at the respective 
short-term deposit rates.

(j) Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables, which are non-interest bearing and generally have terms of between 30 to 90 days,  
are recognised and carried at the original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts. 
Impairment is valued using a model based on expected credit losses. Expected credit losses are measured 
as the probability-weighted present value of all cash shortfalls over the expected life of each financial asset.
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(k) Performance bonds and security deposits
Performance bonds and security deposits include cash deposits held as security for the performance  
of certain contractual obligations of the Company.

(l) Deferred IPO expenses
Costs incurred in relation to the Company’s planned IPO are capitalised as an asset in the statement  
of financial position and will be offset against the funds raised from the issue of shares as part of the IPO 
(refer Note 11).

(m) Property, plant and equipment
Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. 
Depreciation is calculated on a diminishing value method (“DVM”) basis over the estimated useful life  
of the respective asset, as follows:

• Motor vehicles – 25% DVM

• Computer equipment – 66.7% DVM

• Office equipment – 40% DVM

Costs relating to the day-to-day servicing of any item of property, plant and equipment are recognised in 
profit or loss as incurred. The cost of replacing larger parts of some items of property, plant and equipment 
are capitalised when incurred and depreciated over the period until their next scheduled replacement,  
with the replacement parts being subsequently written off.

(n) Intangible assets
Licences

Licences acquired enable the Group to cultivate, produce, manufacture, research, import and export 
medicinal cannabis in Australia. As detailed in Note 13, the costs incurred to date have been capitalised  
in the statement of financial position and are carried at their approximate cost. Licences held have an 
indefinite life and are therefore not amortised but rather assessed annually for impairment or when there are 
indicators of impairment present. Licences are carried at historical cost less any accumulated impairment 
losses. External costs incurred in filing, renewing and protecting the licences, for which no future benefit  
is assured, are expensed as incurred.

(o) Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.  
If any such indication exists, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s 
recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value-in-use and is determined for 
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those 
from other assets or groups of assets and the asset’s value-in-use cannot be estimated to be close to its  
fair value. In such cases, the asset is tested for impairment as part of the cash-generating unit to which it 
belongs. When the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, 
the asset or cash-generating unit is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset. Impairment losses relating to operations are recognised in those expense categories 
consistent with the function of the impaired asset unless the asset is carried at its revalued amount, in which 
case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(o) Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)
An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable 
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in 
the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. 
If so, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. The increased amount cannot 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss 
been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless it reverses  
a decrement previously charged to equity, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. 
After such a reversal, the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised 
carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

(p) Trade and other payables
Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised cost and represent liabilities for goods and 
services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the 
Group becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services. 
Trade payables and other payables generally have terms of between 30 and 60 days.

(q) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of  
a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required  
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the 
Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate 
asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is 
presented in the statement of comprehensive income/(loss), net of any reimbursement.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected 
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects market assessments of the time value of money and, where 
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due  
to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

(r) Employee benefits
Provision is made for employee benefits accumulated as a result of employees rendering services up to  
the reporting date. These benefits include wages and salaries, annual leave and, when appropriate to do so, 
long service leave. Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and any other employee 
benefits expected to be settled within twelve months of the reporting date are measured at their nominal 
amounts based on remuneration rates which are expected to be paid when the liability is settled. All other 
employee benefit liabilities are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be 
made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit credit 
method. Expenses for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken during the year 
and are measured at rates paid or payable.

In determining the present value of future cash outflows, the market yield as at the reporting date on 
national government bonds, which have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related liability, 
are used. Employee benefits expenses and revenues arising in respect of wages and salaries, non-monetary 
benefits, annual leave, long service leave and other leave benefits and other types of employee benefits are 
recognised against profits on a net basis in their respective categories.

(s) Borrowings
Borrowings are recorded as a liability in the statement of financial position at the face value of the amounts 
borrowed, together with any accrued interest that may be payable. To the extent that a borrowing is likely  
to be repayable more than twelve months from the balance date, that portion of the borrowing is recorded 
as a non-current liability.
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(t) Contributed equity
Issued capital is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received by the Company. Transaction 
costs arising on the issue of shares are recognised directly in equity as a deduction, net of tax, of the 
proceeds received.

(u) Comparative information
Certain comparative information has been restated to ensure consistent treatment with current year numbers.

3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates and judgements are evaluated and based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of events that may have a financial impact on the Company and are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances.

(a) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often determined based on estimates and 
assumptions of future events. The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing  
a material adjustment to the carrying value of certain assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting 
period are set out below.

Research and development tax incentive

The Company’s research and development activities are eligible for tax incentives under the Australian 
Federal Government’s research and development tax incentive scheme (the “Scheme”). A refundable tax 
offset currently equal to 43.5% of qualifying expenditure is available to eligible companies with an annual 
aggregate turnover of less than $20 million. The Group measures the estimated tax incentive receivable as 
at balance date by applying the appropriate allocation methodology to the current year expenses incurred. 
Any under or over accrual of the receivable is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income/(loss)  
in the year in which the payment is received. On 21 March 2019, the Group lodged its first claim under the 
Scheme in respect of the year ended 30 June 2018. An amount of $43,937 was subsequently received by  
the Company as a result of the claim on 21 May 2019.

Licences

Determining whether the indefinite life licences described in Note 2(n) are impaired is a matter of judgement. 
The Company undertakes a full assessment of impairment of indefinite life licences annually, as required by 
Accounting Standards. At other reporting periods, the Company assesses whether there are any indicators 
of impairment. Where such indicators exist, a full impairment assessment is undertaken.

(b) Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies
Research and development costs

An intangible asset arising from development expenditure incurred on an internal project is recognised only 
when the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will  
be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will 
generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the development and the ability 
to reliably measure the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

To date, all research and development costs incurred by the Company have been expensed, as their 
recoverability cannot be regarded as assured. In future, the Group will only capitalise its research and 
development expenses when specific milestones are met and when the Group is able to demonstrate  
that future economic benefits are probable.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

4. Other income
Consolidated

30 June 2019 
$

30 June 2018 
$

Gain on recognition of licences 57,205  –

Interest income 1,243 401

Management fee income – 447,594

Total other income 58,448 447,995

5. Profit/(loss) before income tax
Consolidated

30 June 2019 
$

30 June 2018 
$

Profit/(loss) before income tax includes:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 12) (27,420) (9,099)

Employee benefits expenses (1,713,193) (156,501)

Note:

Employee benefits expenses represent all salaries, bonuses and associated on-costs attributable to employees of the Group which 
have been allocated across their respective functions in the statement of comprehensive income/(loss).

6. Profit/(loss) per share
The following reflects the income and share data used in the calculations of basic and diluted profit/(loss)  
per share:

Consolidated

30 June 2019 
$

30 June 2018 
$

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to the owners of the Company (2,914,301) 150,349

Weighted average number of shares used in calculating  
profit/(loss) per share 3,024,663 24
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7. Income tax
(a) Reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable

Consolidated

30 June 2019 
$

30 June 2018 
$

Profit/(loss) before income tax (2,958,238) 192,336

Tax at the Australian tax rate of 27.5% (2018: 27.5%) 813,515 (52,892)

Tax effect of adjustments relating to non-temporary differences

 Gain on recognition of licences 15,731 –

 Entertainment expenses (450) (1,244)

 Other costs  – (10,596)

828,796 (64,732)

Tax effect of adjustments relating to temporary differences

 Temporary differences not recognised (17,480) –

811,316 (64,732)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised (811,316) –

Utilisation of tax losses not previously recognised – 22,805

– (41,927)

Research and development tax incentive received 43,937 –

Income tax benefit/(expense) 43,937 (41,927)

(b) Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
Deferred IPO expenses (73,227)  –

Licences (55,000)  –

Site establishment expenses 64,285  –

Employee benefit provisions and accruals 35,425 12,463

Prepayments  – (3,460)

Tax losses 886,133  –

857,616 9,003

Deferred tax assets on temporary differences not brought to account (857,616) (9,003)

Total net deferred tax assets – –

(c) Tax losses
Australia 3,222,300 –

Total Australian deferred tax assets on tax losses not recognised 886,133 –
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

7. Income tax (continued)

(c) Tax losses (continued)
Subject to the Group continuing to meet the relevant statutory tests, Australian tax losses are available  
for offset against future taxable income. As at balance date, there are estimated Australian unrecognised 
tax losses with a benefit of $886,133 (2018: $nil) that have not been recognised as a deferred tax asset to  
the Group. The unrecognised tax losses at balance date include tax losses totaling $272,059 (tax effected 
benefit of $74,816) which were incurred by Cronos Australia – Operations Pty. Ltd. during the previous 
income year and prior to the formation of the tax consolidated group on 27 September 2018.

The unrecognised deferred tax assets will only be obtained if:

(a) The Group companies derive future assessable income of a nature and amount sufficient to enable  
the benefits to be realised;

(b) The Group companies continue to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by the law, 
including the transfer of losses into the tax consolidated group; and

(c) No changes in tax legislation adversely affect the Group companies from realising the benefit. 

(d) Tax consolidation legislation
Cronos Australia Limited and its three wholly owned Australian controlled entities formed an income  
tax consolidated group under the tax consolidation regime on 27 September 2018.

8. Dividends and distributions
No dividends have been paid since the Company was incorporated on 27 September 2018, nor have the 
Directors recommended that any dividend be declared or paid in the foreseeable future. Rather, the Company 
intends to retain any earnings to finance its future growth and development. Any future payment of cash 
dividends will be dependent upon, amongst other things, the Company’s future earnings, financial condition, 
capital requirements, and such other factors as the Board of Directors may deem relevant at that time.

9. Cash and cash equivalents
Consolidated

30 June 2019 
$

30 June 2018 
$

Cash at bank 159,427 58,690

Cash on hand 252 12

Total cash and cash equivalents 159,679 58,702

10. Trade and other receivables
Consolidated

30 June 2019 
$

30 June 2018 
$

Net GST receivable 39,447  –

Unsecured loans to related parties  – 140,664

Total trade and other receivables 39,447 140,664
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11. Other assets
Consolidated

30 June 2019 
$

30 June 2018 
$

Deferred IPO expenses 1,331,397  –

Prepayments 36,130 12,583

Security deposits 6,000  –

Total other assets 1,373,527 12,583

12. Property, plant and equipment
Consolidated

30 June 2019 
$

30 June 2018 
$

Motor vehicles, at cost 103,024 103,024

Less: accumulated depreciation (32,001) (8,326)

Net motor vehicles 71,023 94,698

Computer equipment, at cost 10,098 2,553

Less: accumulated depreciation (4,790) (773)

Net computer equipment 5,308 1,780

Office equipment, at cost 105  –

Less: accumulated depreciation (34)  –

Net office equipment 71  –

Total net property, plant and equipment 76,402 96,478

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment
Opening gross carrying amount 105,577 1,334

Add: additions purchased during the year 7,179 104,243

Add: assets acquired on Restructure (refer Note 21(b)) 471  –

Closing gross carrying amount 113,227 105,577

Opening accumulated depreciation (9,099)  –

Add: depreciation expense charged (27,420) (9,099)

Add: accumulated depreciation arising on Restructure (refer Note 21(b)) (306)  –

Closing accumulated depreciation (36,825) (9,099)

Total net property, plant and equipment 76,402 96,478
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

12. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Asset category

Opening 
net carrying 

amount  
$

Additions 
during year 

$

Net 
acquisitions on 

Restructure 
$ 

(Notes 2(a), 21(b))

 Depreciation 
expense 

$

Closing net 
carrying 
amount  

$

Motor vehicles 94,698  –  – (23,675) 71,023

Computer equipment 1,780 7,074 165 (3,711) 5,308

Office equipment  – 105  – (34) 71

Totals 96,478 7,179 165 (27,420) 76,402

13. Intangible assets
Consolidated

30 June 2019 
$

30 June 2018 
$

Licences 200,000  –

Total intangible assets 200,000  –

Note:

As part of the Restructure of the Group immediately prior to the incorporation of CAL, as described in Note 2(a), Cronos Australia Group  
Pty. Ltd. (“CAG”) acquired 100% of the shares of Cronos Australia – Operations Pty. Ltd. (“CAO”) and is therefore considered to control CAO. 

The accounting implications of this ownership change resulted in the recognition of the fair value of the assets that Cronos Group Inc. 
had provided in CAO to CAG in exchange for shares in CAG which resulted in the recognition of the fair value of the licences held by 
CAO at $200,000. The Directors of CAL have determined the fair value of the licences to approximate the costs incurred in obtaining 
the licences.

14. Trade and other payables
Consolidated

30 June 2019 
$

30 June 2018 
$

IPO-related payables 979,478  –

Payroll-related payables (excluding annual leave) 877,390 35,341

Trade payables 529,486 5,993

Accrued expenses 50,000 32,184

Income tax payable  – 41,927

Net GST and other payables  – 26,204

Total trade and other payables 2,436,354 141,649
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15. Interest-bearing liabilities (current)
Consolidated

30 June 2019 
$

30 June 2018 
$

Balance at the beginning of the year  –  –

Funds advanced under unsecured loan 500,000  –

Interest accrued on loan 13,923  –

Balance at the end of the year 513,923  –

Note:

During the year ended 30 June 2019, Cronos Australia – Operations Pty. Ltd. (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) established 
a loan facility via an agreement with NewSouthern Capital Pty. Ltd. Under the loan agreement, NewSouthern Capital Pty. Ltd. agreed 
to make available a facility of up to $500,000 to be applied towards working capital and costs associated with the proposed listing of 
CAL on the ASX. The loan is unsecured. 

The full amount of the above facility was drawn down during the year ended 30 June 2019. 

Under the terms of the loan agreement, the balance of the loan from NewSouthern Capital Pty. Ltd. (plus all accrued interest), which 
totalled $519,512, was repaid in full on 2 August 2019.

16. Chattel mortgage liabilities
Consolidated

30 June 2019 
$

30 June 2018 
$

Balance at the beginning of the year 99,313  –

Add: chattel mortgages at inception  – 103,532

Add: interest charged 3,941 1,100

Less: mortgage payments made (21,278) (5,319)

Balance at the end of the year 81,976 99,313

(a) Reconciliation of chattel mortgage liabilities
Consolidated

30 June 2019 
$

30 June 2018 
$

Current liability 17,337 17,337

Non-current liability 64,639 81,976

Total chattel mortgage liabilities 81,976 99,313
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

16. Chattel mortgage liabilities (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of future payments

Future minimum payments Interest
P.V. of minimum  
lease payments

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Less than one year 20,515 21,278 3,178 3,941 17,337 17,337

One to five years 66,503 87,018 1,864 5,042 64,639 81,976

Total payments 87,018 108,296 5,042 8,983 81,976 99,313

Note:

During the year ended 30 June 2018, Cronos Australia Group Pty. Ltd. financed via chattel mortgages the purchase of two commercial 
vehicles used in the Group’s business. The mortgages cover a period of three years and are subject to an interest rate of 4.31% per 
annum. A total of 36 monthly payments are payable, with a residual payment equal to 50% of the total purchase price payable at the 
end of the mortgage period.

17. Employee benefit provisions
Consolidated

30 June 2019 
$

30 June 2018 
$

Annual leave 2,968  –

Total employee benefit provisions 2,968  –

18. Interest-bearing liabilities (non-current)
Consolidated

30 June 2019 
$

30 June 2018 
$

Balance at the beginning of the year  –  –

Funds advanced under unsecured loan 1,500,000  –

Interest accrued on loan 106,027  –

Balance at the end of the year 1,606,027  –

Note:

During the year ended 30 June 2019, Cronos Australia – Operations Pty. Ltd. (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) established 
a loan facility via an agreement with Cronos Group Inc., a beneficial shareholder of the Company. Under the loan agreement, Cronos 
Group Inc. agreed to make available a facility of up to $1,500,000 to be applied towards working capital and costs associated with  
the proposed listing of CAL on the ASX. The loan is unsecured. The full amount of the above facility was drawn down during the year 
ended 30 June 2019. Under the terms of the agreement, the loan from Cronos Group Inc. (plus accrued interest) is not repayable until 
1 January 2022.
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19. Share capital
Consolidated

30 June 2019 
$

30 June 2018 
$

Ordinary shares 54,655 12

Total share capital 54,655 12

Ordinary shares issued and outstanding

Number $

Balance at 1 July 2018  – 12

Issue of ordinary share on incorporation 1 1

Cancellation of incorporation share (1) (1)

Issue of ordinary shares/net assets acquired on Restructure (Note 21(b)) 4,000,000 54,643

Balance at 30 June 2019 4,000,000 54,655

Note:

As a result of the Restructure described in Note 2(a), the Company, via its ownership of Cronos Australia Group Pty. Ltd., acquired the 
assets and liabilities of both Cronos Australia – Operations Pty. Ltd. and Cronos Australia – Marketing & Distribution Pty. Ltd. The balance 
of the net assets acquired was recognised above as an adjustment to equity.

20. Retained earnings/(accumulated losses)
Consolidated

30 June 2019 
$

30 June 2018 
$

Balance at the beginning of the year 67,453 (82,896)

Add: profit/(loss) attributable to owners of Cronos Australia Limited (2,914,301) 150,349

Balance at the end of the year (2,846,848) 67,453
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21. Reconciliation of cash flows
(a) Reconciliation of profit/(loss) for the year

Consolidated

30 June 2019 
$

30 June 2018 
$

Reconciliation of profit/(loss) for the year after income tax to the net 
cash flows from/(used in) operating activities

Profit/(loss) for the year (2,914,301) 150,349

Non-cash items

 Interest expense accrued 119,950  –

 Depreciation of plant and equipment 27,420 9,099

 Gain on recognition of licences (57,205)  –

 Amortisation of intangible assets  – 400

 Share of losses of associates  – 60

Changes in assets and liabilities

 (Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 44,378  –

 (Increase)/decrease in other assets (29,547) 152

 Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 1,150,354 51,362

 Increase/(decrease) in income tax payable  – 41,927

 Increase/(decrease) in employee benefit provisions 1,212  –

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities (1,657,739) 253,349

(b) Capital reorganisation
Consolidated

30 June 2019 
$

On 27 September 2018, the Company completed the Restructure as described in  
Note 2(a). The Restructure resulted in the following assets and liabilities being included 
within the Group:

Assets

 Trade and other receivables 26,522

 Assets under construction (since expensed) 25,300

 Property, plant and equipment (net) 165

 Deferred IPO expenses 146,781

 Intangible assets (licences) 142,795

Liabilities

 Trade and other payables (358,486)

 Employee benefit provisions (1,756)

 Allocation to issued capital (Note 19) (54,643)

Net assets assumed on Restructure 73,322
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22. Employee benefits
During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group made statutory contributions to various superannuation 
funds on behalf of Australian employees at a rate of up to 9.5% per annum, in addition to other superannuation 
contributions as part of salary packaging arrangements with certain staff. All contributions are expensed 
when incurred. Contributions made by the Group of 9.5% per annum of employees’ salaries up to a statutory 
limit are legally enforceable in Australia. A provision for annual leave accrued during the year by employees 
was also maintained.

23. Related party transactions
(a) Remuneration of Key Management Personnel

Consolidated

30 June 2019 
$

30 June 2018 
$

Short-term employee benefits 1,133,558 123,200

Other benefits 87,379 11,401

Total remuneration of Key Management Personnel 1,220,937 134,601

Note:

Key Management Personnel include all members of the Executive Team that report directly to the CEO.

(b) Related party transactions
Expenses

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group paid certain expenses in respect of a business that was 
formerly carried on by Cronos Australia Group Pty. Ltd. (previously named NewSouthern Capital Pty. Ltd.) 
(“CAG”), prior to the Restructure of the Cronos Australia Group on 27 September 2018 (as described in  
Note 2(a)). At that time, CAG was controlled by parties associated with Rodney Cocks and Peter Righetti, 
both of whom are Directors of CAL. These expenses, together with other liabilities that had been previously 
incurred by CAG in respect of the previous business, were transferred to a loan account in the statement of 
financial position of CAG as at 31 December 2018 such that the relevant expenses and liabilities do not 
appear in the financial statements of the Group as at that date.

CAG received a written undertaking from Rodney Cocks and Peter Righetti that they will repay the balance 
of the above loan and pay the associated income tax, being $43,121 in total, in full prior to 30 June 2019 and 
that they will indemnify the current shareholder of CAG, being CAL, against any losses or damages suffered 
in connection with the former NewSouthern business prior to 27 September 2018. In accordance with the 
undertaking that was provided to CAG, all loans and income tax were repaid or settled in full prior to 
30 June 2019.
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23. Related party transactions (continued)

(b) Related party transactions (continued)

Contingent lease commitment

On 12 October 2018, the Group, via its wholly-owned subsidiary Cronos Australia – Operations Pty. Ltd.  
(the “Tenant”) entered into an Agreement for Lease over a long-term ground lease of a site near Daylesford in 
Victoria with Glenbrook Pastoral Pty. Ltd. (the “Landlord”) on which the Group could, if it so elected, construct  
a facility to cultivate cannabis. The Agreement for Lease is a related party arrangement as the Landlord is  
an entity controlled by a party related to Peter Righetti, one of the Directors of CAL. The Company is satisfied 
that the lease is on arm’s length terms, the key ones of which are set out below. 

The grant of the lease will be conditional on the Tenant providing written notice (the “Commencement Notice”) 
to the Landlord, prior to 30 June 2022, that it wishes for the ground lease to commence 11 business days 
after the provision of the notice. If the Tenant has not issued a Commencement Notice by 30 June 2022 then 
either the Tenant or the Landlord may terminate the Agreement for Lease. Under the Agreement for Lease, 
the Tenant has been granted access to the site, prior to the lease commencing, to undertake minor early 
works required to prepare the site for construction of the facility. The Tenant must pay a licence fee of 20%  
of the commencing rent payable under the lease up until the time that the lease term commences. 

A lease of the site will be granted once a Commencement Notice has been issued by the Tenant. The Tenant 
must not commence any works associated with the construction of any facility (with the exception of the 
minor early works) unless it has issued a Commencement Notice to the Landlord and it has obtained the 
required development and planning approvals and provided a copy of the same to the Landlord.

Assuming that the lease has commenced, the Tenant will be required to carry out the works to construct the 
facility as soon as reasonably practicable. The Tenant is entitled to make changes to the plans for the facility 
during the course of construction without objection by the Landlord. If constructed, the facility remains the 
property of the Tenant at all times during the lease. On expiration or sooner termination of the lease, the 
Tenant may (at its election) make good the site by removing all improvements and cleaning the site, or may 
pay the Landlord a make good sum (with such sum to be agreed by the parties) in lieu of complying with the 
make good provisions of the lease.

The commercial terms of the lease are as follows:

• One term of 10 years, plus eight options of 5 years each. An initial rental of $115,000 per annum  
plus GST (payable on and from the commencement date), increasing annually by the greater of 2.9%  
or CPI, with a market review on exercise of each option, if applicable, in addition to paying 100% of  
the outgoings attributable to the Land.

• Security in the form of a bank guarantee equal to three months’ rent, as well as a guarantee from  
the Company. 

• Where the facility (if constructed) is damaged or destroyed during the term of the lease, the Tenant: 

– where the facility is partially destroyed, must reinstate; or

– where the facility is totally destroyed, may elect to demolish the facility and make good the Land, 
surrender the lease and pay a surrender fee equal to 24 months’ rent. 

The Tenant will not be entitled to surrender the lease where the damage or destruction is caused or 
contributed to by the Tenant. Where, through no fault of the Tenant, the permitted use becomes unlawful  
or is prevented by a government authority or by a change in legislation, the Tenant must surrender the lease 
and pay a surrender fee equal to 24 months’ rent.

Apart from the above transactions, and the loans from Cronos Group Inc. and NewSouthern Capital Pty. Ltd. 
as detailed in Notes 15 and 18, there were no other transactions with related parties during the year ended 
30 June 2019.
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24. Commitments and contingencies
As at 30 June 2019, the Group had entered into an operating lease relating to the following premises:

Location Landlord Use Date of expiry of lease

Minimum 
payment  

($)

Level 2, 287 Collins Street  
Melbourne, Victoria 3000 
Australia

Work Club Australia 
Pty. Ltd. Office 30 September 2019 18,000

Total 18,000

The Company, via its wholly-owned subsidiary Cronos Australia Group Pty. Ltd., has financed via chattel 
mortgages the purchase of two commercial vehicles used in the Company’s business. The combined 
monthly payments due under the respective mortgages is $1,785. As at 30 June 2019, a total of 20 further 
monthly payments were payable, in addition to a final payment of $51,318, being 50% of the total amount 
financed in respect of both vehicles (refer Note 16).

25. Group structure
The following diagram is a depiction of the Group structure as at the date of this Report:

Cronos Australia
Limited

(ACN 629 071 594)

Cronos Australia
Group Pty. Ltd.

(ACN 603 433 110)

Cronos Australia – 
New Zealand Limited

(NZ co. number
7073673)

100%

100% 100% 100% 100%

CBD Australia – 
Asia Limited

(HK co. number
2856479)

Cronos Australia – 
Operations  Pty. Ltd.
(ACN 616 243 595)

Cronos Australia – 
Marketing & Distribution 

Pty. Ltd.
(ACN 621 292 064)

Name of Group company Incorporation details (date and place)

Cronos Australia Limited 27 September 2018; Victoria, Australia

Cronos Australia Group Pty. Ltd. 18 December 2014, Victoria, Australia

Cronos Australia – Operations Pty. Ltd. 2 December 2016; Victoria, Australia

Cronos Australia – Marketing & Distribution Pty. Ltd. 24 August 2017; Victoria, Australia

Cronos Australia – New Zealand Limited 12 October 2018; Taranaki, New Zealand

CBD Australia – Asia Limited 25 July 2019; Hong Kong
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26. Auditor’s remuneration

Name of Auditor Year
Audit services 

$
Other services 

$
Totals 

$

KPMG 2019 45,000 60,000 105,000

2018 12,000  – 12,000

Total auditor’s remuneration 2019 45,000 60,000 105,000

2018 12,000  – 12,000

 27. Segment information
(a) Reportable segments
The Group has identified one reportable business segment based on the products to be produced and sold 
and/or the services provided, being the manufacture and sale of products related to medicinal cannabis,  
as this represents the source of the Group’s major risks and has the greatest effect on the rates of return. 
The Group has identified one geographic segment, being Australia, based on the jurisdiction where the 
Company’s headquarters are located. The segments are reported in a manner consistent with the reporting 
provided to the chief operating decision maker, being the Company’s Chief Executive Officer.

(b) Segment locations
The principal geographic segment is Australia, with the Company’s headquarters being located in 
Melbourne in the State of Victoria.

(c) Segment accounting policies
Segment information is prepared in conformity with the accounting policies of the entity and Accounting 
Standard IFRS 8 (AASB 8) Operating Segments. As a result, the primary reporting segments reflect more 
closely the information that Management uses to make decisions about operating matters.

(d) Major customers
As at 30 June 2019, the Group has no customers to which it provides products and from whom the Group 
generated revenues representing more than 10% of the total consolidated revenue from operations.
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28. Financial risk management
(a) Introduction
The Group’s activities expose it to various financial risks such as credit risk, market risk (including foreign 
currency risk and interest rate risk) and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses 
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial 
performance of the Group. The Group uses different methods to measure the different types of risk to which 
it is exposed. These methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of foreign exchange, and interest rate 
and aging analysis for credit risk.

Risks associated with the Company’s products are managed as part of the Company’s regulatory compliance 
program which are audited annually. Corporate and related risks are managed by the Executive Team under 
guidance provided by the Board of Directors. The Executive Team identifies and evaluates risks in cooperation 
with the Group’s operating units. As the Company develops its governance framework further, corporate risks 
will be defined and documented in greater detail which will then be reviewed by the Executive Team and 
revised on a regular basis, as required.

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents. The Group also has other 
financial assets and liabilities, such as trade receivables and payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The Group does not enter into derivative transactions, such as interest rate swaps or forward currency 
contracts. It is, and has been throughout the period under review, the Group’s policy that no trading in 
financial instruments shall be undertaken. The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are 
credit risk exposures, foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. The policies and procedures 
for managing these risks are summarised below.

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition,  
the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each 
class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in Note 2.

The Group holds the following financial instruments:

Consolidated

30 June 2019 
$

30 June 2018 
$

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 159,679 58,702

Trade and other receivables 39,447 140,664

Other assets 42,130 12,583

Total financial assets 241,256 211,949

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 2,436,354 141,649

Interest-bearing liabilities 2,119,950  –

Chattel mortgage liabilities 81,976 99,313

Total financial liabilities 4,638,280 240,962
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28. Financial risk management (continued)

(b) Credit risk
The Group’s credit risk is managed on a Group basis. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and 
deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to customers, including outstanding 
receivables and committed transactions. If there is no independent rating, the Group assesses the credit 
quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. Individual 
risk limits are set based on internal and/or external ratings. The compliance with credit limits by customers is 
regularly monitored by Management. The maximum exposures to credit risk as at 30 June 2019 in relation to 
each class of recognised financial asset is the carrying amount of that asset, as recorded in the statement  
of financial position.

Financial assets included on the statement of financial position that potentially subject the Group to a 
concentration of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents. The Group minimises this 
concentration of risk by placing its cash and cash equivalents with financial institutions that maintain 
superior credit ratings in order to limit the degree of credit exposure. For banks and financial institutions,  
only independently-rated parties with a minimum rating of “A-1” are accepted. The Group has not entered 
into any transactions that qualify as a financial derivative instrument.

In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis such that the Group’s exposure to bad 
debts is not significant. As at 30 June 2019, the Group had not raised any provisions for doubtful debts.

As at 30 June 2019, the Group had no trade receivables. An analysis of the aging of trade payables is 
provided below:

Consolidated

30 June 2019 
$

30 June 2018 
$

Trade payables

Current (less than 30 days) 114,200 5,993

31 days to 60 days 5,500 –

61 days to 90 days 12,375 –

Greater than 90 days 397,411 –

Total trade payables (Note 14) 529,486 5,993
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(c) Market risk
Foreign currency risk

The Group currently operates in Australia and, at balance date, has limited exposure to foreign currency 
exchange risk. As the Company expands its operations, particularly in international jurisdictions, this 
situation may change in future.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s main interest rate risk arises in relation to its short-term deposits with various financial 
institutions. If interest rates were to decrease, the Group may generate less interest revenue from such 
deposits. However, given the relatively short duration of such deposits, the associated risk is minimal.  
As at balance date, the Group had two interest bearing loans with a total face value of $2,000,000 that were 
subject to a fixed rate of interest. One of these loans, with a face value of $500,000, together with all accrued 
interest, was repaid in full on 2 August 2019. The remaining loan, with a face value of $1,500,000, is not due 
for repayment until 1 January 2022. Other than these loans and chattel mortgages in respect of motor 
vehicles, the Company has no liabilities on which interest is charged.

The Group adopts a prudent approach to cash management that is tailored to cash forecasts rather than 
seeking the highest rates of return that may compromise access to funds as and when they are required. 
Where appropriate, the Group strives to deposit its surplus cash in a range of deposits over different time 
frames and with different institutions in order to diversify its portfolio and thereby minimise its overall risk.  
On a monthly basis, Management reviews all cash and cash equivalents, including the periods over which 
the cash has been deposited, the name and credit rating of the institution holding the deposit and the 
interest rate at which the funds have been deposited.

Given the relatively low average balance of cash and cash equivalents held by the Group during the year 
ended 30 June 2019, if interest rates had changed by +/- 50 basis points from the year-end rates, with all 
other variables held constant, the Group’s equity, relating solely to the movement in profit and loss for  
the year, would not have changed materially. The Group’s main interest rate risk during the year ended 
30 June 2019 arose in respect of two fixed rate borrowings from its shareholders which were subject to  
an interest rate that did not fluctuate (see above).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

28. Financial risk management (continued)

(c) Market risk (continued)
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risks and the effective interest rates of financial assets and liabilities, 
both realised and unrealised, is as follows:

Year
Floating rate 

$
Fixed rate 

$

Carrying 
amount 

$

Weighted- 
average rate 

%

Maturity 
period  
days

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 2019 159,679  – 159,679 1.25% At call

2018 58,702  – 58,702 1.50% N/A

Trade and other receivables 2019 39,447  – 39,447 N/A At call

2018 140,664  – 140,664 N/A N/A

Other assets (Note 11) 2019 42,130  – 42,130 N/A N/A

2018 12,583  – 12,583 N/A N/A

Totals 2019 241,256  – 241,256

2018 211,949  – 211,949

Financial liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities 2019  – 2,119,950 2,119,950 12.00% N/A

 (Notes 15 and 18) 2018  –  –  –  – N/A

Chattel mortgage liabilities 2019  – 81,976 81,976 4.31% N/A

 (Note 16) 2018  – 99,313 99,313 4.31% N/A

Totals 2019  – 2,201,926 2,201,926

2018  – 99,313 99,313

Note:

All periods in respect of financial assets are for less than one year.
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(d) Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents and the 
availability of funding through committed credit facilities, such as its credit card facility. The Group manages 
liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and, wherever possible, matching 
the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 

Due to the dynamic nature of the Company’s underlying business, Management aims to maintain flexibility in 
funding by keeping committed credit lines available. Surplus funds are generally only invested in instruments 
that are tradable in highly liquid markets.

A balanced view of cash inflows and outflows affecting the Group is summarised in the table below: 

Year

< 6  
months  

$

6 to 12 
months  

$

1 to 5  
years  

$

> 5  
years  

$
Totals  

$

Inflows – financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 2019 159,679 – – – 159,679

2018 58,702 – – – 58,702

Trade and other receivables 2019 39,447 – – – 39,447

2018 140,664 – – – 140,664

Total financial assets 2019 199,126 – – – 199,126

2018 199,366 – – – 199,336

Outflows – financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 2019 2,436,354 – – – 2,436,354

2018 141,649 – – – 141,649

Interest-bearing liabilities 2019 513,923 – 1,606,027 – 2,119,950

2018  – – – –  –

Chattel mortgage liabilities 2019 8,668 8,669 64,639 – 81,976

2018 8,668 8,669 81,976 – 99,313

Total financial liabilities 2019 2,958,945 8,669 1,670,666 – 4,638,280

2018 150,317 8,669 81,976 – 240,962

(e) Classification of financial instruments
AASB 13 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritises the input to valuation techniques used to measure 
fair value, as follows:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2:  inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

Level 3:  inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The fair values of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities as at 30 June 2019 (as set out above), all of 
which are Level 3, approximate their carrying values due to the short-term nature of these instruments.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

28. Financial risk management (continued)

(f) Borrowing facilities
The Group had access to the following borrowing facilities as at 30 June 2019:

Facility  
limit  

$

Amount  
used 

$

Amount 
available  

$

Nature of facility

Loan from Cronos Group Inc. 1,500,000 (1,500,000)  –

Loan from NewSouthern Capital Pty. Ltd. 500,000 (500,000)  –

29. Subsequent events
• On 25 July 2019, the Group incorporated a Hong Kong based subsidiary named Cronos Australia  

– Asia Limited from which the Group’s operations in Asia will be managed.

• On 2 August 2019, the Company repaid a loan, together with accrued interest, totaling $519,512 to 
NewSouthern Capital Pty. Ltd. pursuant to the Loan Agreement described in Note 15.

• Subsequent to balance date, the Company received funds totaling $3,500,000 pursuant to 15 convertible 
loan agreements with various investors which were used to meet the Company’s working capital 
commitments and the costs associated with the Company’s proposed IPO. The loans will convert into 
ordinary shares to be issued under the Prospectus at a rate determined by dividing the value of the loan 
by an amount equal to 80% of the offer price for each share (i.e. a discount of 20%). No interest is payable 
on the loans. If the IPO has not occurred within 12 months of receiving the funds, the loans are repayable.

Apart from the events described above, there were no other events that have occurred subsequent to 
balance date that have not been disclosed elsewhere in this Financial Report.
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In the opinion of the Directors of Cronos Australia Limited:

1. the Financial Statements and accompanying notes, as set out on pages 34 to 66, are in accordance  
with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements; and

(ii) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2019 and  
of its performance for the financial year ended on that date; and

2. there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when  
they become due and payable; and

Note 2 confirms that the Financial Statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

This Declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

 

SHANE F. TANNER RODNEY D. COCKS 
Chairman Director

Melbourne, 13 September 2019

Directors’ Declaration
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Liability limited by a scheme approved under 
Professional Standards Legislation. 

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG 
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

 

To the shareholders of Cronos Australia Limited 

Report on the audit of the Financial Report 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the Financial Report of 
Cronos Australia Limited (the Company). 

In our opinion, the accompanying 
Financial Report of the Company is in 
accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, including: 

• giving a true and fair view of the 
Group's financial position as at 30 June 
2019 and of its financial performance for 
the year ended on that date; and 

• complying with Australian Accounting 
Standards and the Corporations 
Regulations 2001. 

 

The Financial Report comprises: 

• Consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 
2019 

• Consolidated statement of comprehensive income/(loss), 
Consolidated statement of changes in equity, and 
Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended 

• Notes including a summary of significant accounting 
policies  

• Directors' Declaration. 

The Group consists of Cronos Australia Limited (the 
Company) and the entities it controlled at the year end or 
from time to time during the financial year. 

 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the Financial Report section of our report. 

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the Financial Report in Australia. We 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

Other Information 

Other Information is financial and non-financial information in Cronos Australia Limited’s annual reporting 
which is provided in addition to the Financial Report and the Auditor’s Report. The Directors are 
responsible for the Other Information. 

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Our opinion on the Financial Report does not cover the Other Information and, accordingly, we do not 
express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the Financial Report, our responsibility is to read the Other Information. In 
doing so, we consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the Financial Report or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

We are required to report if we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other Information, 
and based on the work we have performed on the Other Information that we obtained prior to the date of 
this Auditor’s Report we have nothing to report. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The Directors are responsible for: 

• preparing the Financial Report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 

• implementing necessary internal control to enable the preparation of a Financial Report that gives a true 
and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• assessing the Group and Company's ability to continue as a going concern and whether the use of the 
going concern basis of accounting is appropriate. This includes disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the 
Group and Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report 

Our objective is:  

• to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and  

• to issue an Auditor’s Report that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of the Financial Report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar3.pdf. 
This description forms part of our Auditor’s Report. 

 

  

KPMG Gordon Sangster 

 Partner 

 Melbourne 

 13 September 2019 
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